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disabilities. The policy strengthens how line managers work in partnership with 
employees to identify and provide reasonable adjustments. 
 
In 2019 we also set up an equality impact group that has been reviewing workforce 
policies to ensure they are fair and inclusive. The group brings staff representatives 
together with managers from organisational development, human resources and 
equalities, to gather data and staff experiences of policy use. This information helps 
us improve policies for different equality groups in the workforce. 
 
4.3 Partnership Working 

Use the Right Service 
We launched a system-wide campaign throughout the 2019/20 winter, Use the Right 
Service (UTRS), which saw 10 health organisations work together to reduce 
inappropriate admissions into University Hospital Southampton’s emergency 
department by directing patients to other health centres e.g. Urgent Treatment 
Centres. We worked in partnership with a number of different organisations across 
the county, such as primary schools, volunteer groups and Parish Councils, to 
engage with as many people as possible, and we will continue to do so over the 
coming year. 
 
RESTORE2™ 
We have celebrated success for two of our projects – RESTORE2™ and WISDOM. 
RESTORE2™, the care home physical deterioration tool won both the regional and 
national Parliamentary Award for Excellence in Primary Care. The tool, which stands 
for Recognise Early Soft Signs, Take Observations, Respond and Escalate, supports 
care home workers to understand and recognise the signs of physical deterioration, 
measure observations using the National Early Warning Score (NEWS) system and 
communicate in a timely and effective ways to get help from health professionals.  
 
West Hampshire Improving Shared Diabetes Outcome Measures (WISDOM) 
WISDOM (West Hampshire Improving Shared Diabetes Outcome Measures) has 
nominated in the BMJ Awards 2020 Clinical leadership category. WISDOM, which 
was set up in March 2018 through partnership working with Southern Health NHS 
Foundation Trust, encouraged our PCNs to improve diabetes outcomes for patients 
in three national treatment targets - haemoglobin A1c, blood pressure, and 
cholesterol. In its first year, 955 additional patients achieved the three targets in the 
last year despite an increase in the diabetes population.  
 
 

  

https://usetherightservice.com/
https://usetherightservice.com/
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5 Quality report  
 
The CCG quality team is made up of a range of healthcare professionals who work 
to support our commissioned services, provide users with a positive experience of 
care, protect people from harm and deliver value for money. 
 
5.1 Quality overview 
The team works in partnership with healthcare providers, supporting quality 
improvement through commissioning initiatives and clinical expertise, and provides 
critical oversight to challenge and hold organisations to account for the quality of 
their services.  
The team is made up of nurses, with various clinical specialties (infection prevention, 
community nursing, sexual health, primary care, mental health), occupational 
therapists and a probation officer, with access to GPs who oversee quality on behalf 
of the CCG. 
We continue to have oversight of services through our contractual monitoring 
processes, including benchmarking of local and national quality data and patient 
outcomes, feedback from service users and regular themed clinical and peer review 
assessments of care. We have encouraged and facilitated organisations to share 
good and innovative practice and, where standards have not been as stringent, we 
have supported providers to remedy this using quality improvement methodology. 
 
5.2 System governance 
The CCG is a critical part of the Hampshire and Isle of Wight (HIOW) STP and a 
core member of the quality board. The CCG quality team has been instrumental in 
leading the development of new governance and assurance arrangements in north 
and mid Hampshire and Southampton and south west delivery systems. As part of 
this work, the CCG quality team has held workshops with system partners covering 
mortality, physical deterioration, learning from serious incidents, prevention of harm 
and management of risk, as well as supporting the creation of new quality structures 
where providers and commissioners can come together to look at quality across 
patient journeys rather than by individual organisation. 
 
5.3 Local governance arrangements 
The quality team continues to have strong internal quality assurance oversight 
through the Primary Care Quality Monitoring, Care Home Quality and Quality 
Assurance Groups, which collate and analyse quality data and support providers 
with interventions and specialist reviews. 
The Clinical Governance Committee brings together quality intelligence and risks 
from the above groups and across the healthcare system and members discuss 
standards, risks and assurance. 
The quality team continues to hold monthly meetings with the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) and local authorities to improve information sharing and 
collaboration, whilst working closely with neighbouring CCGs, to ensure we share 
information that benefits patients. 
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The team is increasingly embedded within commissioned services, working 
alongside and in partnership with provider quality teams to support reviews,  
mortality group meetings and harm and serious incident panels, to make assurance 
simpler and more efficient. This helps to build trust and ensures that the CCG are 
well informed around the successes and challenges of commissioned services and 
can support prompt action when issues arise. 
 
5.4 Support for CCG projects and partnership working 
During the year, the quality team led or supported several specific pieces of work in 
response to areas for improvement. 
One quality team member completed training in quality improvement (QI) 
methodology with a local provider and participated in a project on a mental health 
ward to release staff time to have more meaningful and therapeutic interactions with 
patients.   
The project identified changes to working patterns and procedures which released 
161 hours of care time per week that can be better spent supporting patients. It is 
anticipated that the project will result in improved patient experience, reduced length 
of stay and better staff retention due to increased job satisfaction. The QI model 
provides an excellent opportunity for commissioners and providers to work 
collaboratively together to improve patient care and experience. 
Building on previous work to develop learning disability friendly standards for acute 
hospitals, the team has supported two of our local hospitals to train the staff on six 
wards to help them to more effectively and sensively meet the needs of people with 
a learning disability. The providers now have learning disability strategies and 
executive leads. 
RESTORE2™, the care home physical deterioration tool, has had a successful year, 
winning both the regional and national Parliamentary Award for Excellence in 
Primary Care. The tool, which stands for Recognise Early Soft Signs, Take 
Observations, Respond and Escalate, supports care home workers to understand 
and recognise the signs of physical deterioration, measure observations using the 
National Early Warning Score (NEWS) system and communicate in a timely and 
effective ways to get help from health professionals.  
RESTORE2™ is shown to reduce emergency calls to ambulance services by 31% in 
care homes and improves the confidence of carers to recognise and alert health 
services to residents who are becoming unwell. RESTORE2™ is now the 
deterioration tool of choice for Hampshire and the Isle of Wight STP, and has been 
adopted by 20 CCGs/areas nationally. It also won the Sir Peter Carr Award for 
partnership working as part of the Somerset CCG pathway re-design for a 
deteriorating resident. 
The quality team continues to support the local GPs with specialist infection 
prevention reviews and dry runs for CQC inspections and the development of good 
governance within PCNs. The team has been working with care and nursing homes 
to support them in meeting information governance requirements that allows them to:  

• Sign up for a secure NHS.net email account  
• Access the CCG’s new telehealth project to give clinical advice and support to 

care homes.  
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This supports timely and secure communication with other healthcare partners, 
reduces cost and reliance on paper, and opens up increased opportunities for new 
and more efficient ways of working. 
As part of the focus on ensuring that individuals with a mental health problem are 
treated equally with people with physical health needs, the team have rolled out the 
multi-agency process for examining long waits in emergency departments for people 
with mental health issues. The learning programme now covers Hampshire Hospitals 
and University Hospitals Southampton, and brings together professionals from 
mental health services, local authorities and hospital staff and other relevant parties, 
such as primary care, the ambulance service and police, to identify and implement 
changes to make the experience of accessing care faster and more personalised. 
 
5.5 Safeguarding children 
The safeguarding team has continued to support the local and national roll-out of the  
ICON programme, designed around effective interventions for the prevention of 
Abusive Head Trauma (AHT) in babies. The core of the campaign both locally and 
nationally is based around coping with a crying baby. The Hampshire group 
developed an acronym ‘ICON’ which supports the core message and which has 
been fully endorsed by the national group. 
ICON represents: 
* I – Infant crying is normal 
* C –Comforting methods can help 
* O – It’s OK to walk away 
* N – Never, ever shake a baby 
The programme has been embedded across primary care, midwifery and health 
visiting services in Hampshire with evidence suggesting that it has prevented 
potential abusive head trauma to babies. ICON won the regional Parliamentary 
Award for Excellence in Healthcare and was shortlisted for the NHS Elect Awards in 
2019. Hampshire has been responsible for chairing the National Steering group for 
ICON and will hand the leadership of the group to another CCG in April 2020. 
The quality team has continued to support specialist GP hubs to undertake initial 
health assessments for looked after children across Hampshire which ensures that 
vulnerable children have a thorough assessment to ensure their health needs are 
clearly identified and addressed by doctors with a special interest. The safeguarding 
and quality team has also proactively worked with our provider of review health 
assessments for looked after children to improve access to services which has 
eliminated the waiting list for appointments, meaning that vulnerable children have 
in-depth health reviews at least annually. 
The team has co-produced the Hampshire Safe Sleep campaign called ‘Every Sleep 
Counts’ in response to learning raised in serious case and other child death reviews.  
The programme highlights the need for every sleep that a baby has to be a safe 
sleep, whether this is:  

• At nap time or evening sleeps 
• When families are travelling and staying in locations other than their homes.  
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The programme provides professionals with some practical resources that reinforces 
safe sleep messages in a variety of scenarios, including the increased risk of co-
sleeping with a baby. It is hoped that this will protect babies from harm. 
 
5.6 Safeguarding adults 
Safeguarding upholds the human rights of every individual allowing them to live a life 
that is free from harm and abuse whilst keeping the person’s views and wishes at the 
centre of the process. 
The CCG has a statutory responsibility to work in partnership with other agencies to 
protect adults who have needs for care and support and may be unable to keep 
themselves safe from abuse and neglect. The CCG works closely with the local 
safeguarding adult Boards with the safeguarding adults team supporting many of the 
sub groups to the Board, including the business and four Local Safeguarding Adults 
Board (LSAB) workforce sub groups.  
The team are involved in the future of integrated care systems alongside colleagues 
in quality and NHS England/Improvement to review the future safeguarding 
arrangements going forwards including the safeguarding architecture needed within 
the new integrated care system. 
The designated nurse continues in her role as a visiting fellow with the faculty of 
health sciences and has also successfully published a chapter “The Essence of 
Nursing” in a key nursing resource book, “The Essence of Nursing for Alexander’s 
Nursing Practice,” edited by Professor Ian Peate. 
During 2019/20, the designated nurse for safeguarding adults was awarded a quality 
improvement secondment opportunity with Health Education England. The 
secondment involves driving a social movement to increase the uptake of lasting 
power of attorney for health and welfare under the strapline ‘Let’s Plan Ahead’. This 
allows a person to officially appoint someone they trust to make decisions on their 
behalf if they are ever unable to make decisions for themselves. By planning ahead, 
people can retain control for longer, make their wishes for future care clear to a 
trusted person, and can reduce unnecessary medical intervention. We hosted a 
launch initiative during April 2020 to encourage people to proactively take out Last 
Power of Attorney Powers for health and Welfare, allowing others to make decisions 
in their best interests if they lose capacity to make decisions around their own health. 
The safeguarding adults team continue to work in partnership with Hampshire Fire 
and Rescue Services to protect vulnerable people. This work is key as part of the 
early intervention/prevention agenda and includes:  

• Home fire safety visits which provide an information pack 
• Fire safety advice (including installation /review of smoke alarms),  
• A review of potential fire hazards within the home 
• Advice and issue of fire retardant bedding  
• A review of possible escape routes. 

The team has also been involved as part of a multi-disciplinary team in developing a 
multi-agency guide supporting adults at risk of choking. The guidance is designed to 
support carers to recognise, manage and prevent choking risks for adults aged 18 
and over. The end guidance was formerly launched by the Hampshire Safeguarding 
Adults Board and received a positive response. Further resources on the Adult 
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Safeguarding Board’s website help to promote awareness in relation to eating, 
drinking and swallowing issues.  

6 Patient experience 
 
As of 31 December 2019 we received 501 contacts from local people raising 
complaints and concerns, passing comment or requesting advice and signposting. 
Additionally, 276 GPs contacted the team via the GP feedback tool.  

  Complaint Concern Advice and 
Signposting Compliment 

MP/Other 
enquiry 
(not 
complaints) 

Total 
 

 

2019 Q2 35 71 28 4 7 145 
2019 Q3 60 73 36 4 13 186 
2019 Q4 39 67 33 2 6 147 
2020 Q1 53 86 28 13 12 192 
Total 187 297 125 23 38 670 

 

6.1  Complaints to the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman 
The Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman requested complaint files and 
has ruled on two complaints. 
The Ombudsman decided not to investigate two complaints regarding to Continuing 
Healthcare (CHC) decision making as they could find no indications of 
maladministration. On one case, although not part of the complaint remit, the 
Ombudsman shared advice and learning points regarding the fast track process.  
 
There are two cases awaiting the Ombudsman’s decision to investigate and /or the 
outcome: 

• Oxygen therapy – prescribing 
• Continuing Healthcare – CCG decision with regard to sharing patient 

information. 
 

6.2 Actions and learning 
The Quarterly reports to our Clinical Governance Committee demonstrate that 
commissioning and provider actions and learning outcomes are monitored by the 
team, in liaison with the quality and commissioning managers to improve the 
experience for patients arising from people’s experience of healthcare. 
 
Training has been implemented with CHC senior managers to support new 
complaint processes to implement local resolution of complaints and concerns by the 
appropriate managers. This will support responding promptly to clients and informing 
the commissioning managers/service managers of the experiences within their areas 
of responsibility. This new process training will be rolled out to commissioning 
managers in quarter four. 
 



Performance Report 

37 

7 Patient and public involvement  
 
Involvement of local people, patients and carers remains central to our 
commissioning decisions as a CCG. We continue to value the support, feedback and 
local knowledge that we receive. As local delivery system working begins to embed 
further, we recognise that the importance of this insight will continue. 
 
7.1 Patient and Public Engagement Steering Group 
The bi-monthly Patient and Public Engagement Steering Group (PPESG) provides 
regular and honest feedback to the CCG on patient involvement in commissioning 
intentions, proposed new services and service changes.   
 
The PPESG reports to the Board and will have oversight of any patient and public 
involvement activity, advise on who and how we should be engaging with our 
population and monitor its effectiveness. The activities of the Group will be reported 
to the CCG Board every six months by the lay member for patient and public 
engagement (see below) as part of the communications and engagement report. 
Members of the PPESG include representatives from local Patient Participation 
Groups, voluntary sector groups, such as Healthwatch Hampshire, One Community 
and Carers Together, Hampshire County Council and Eastleigh Borough Council.  
 
The PPESG is chaired by Judy Gillow, our lay Board member for Patient and Public 
Involvement.  A six monthly report is taken to Board. 
 
We also support other health-specific engagement groups including: 
 

• Neurology Steering Group 
• Respiratory Steering Group 
• Cancer Steering Group 
• West Hampshire Involvement Network (WIN)  
• Continuing Healthcare co-production group. 

 
Recognising that more work is needed to understand the needs and views of people 
who do not attend groups, there have been visits communities in deprived areas in 
the New Forest and Andover. WHCCG has had conversations with local people 
about their particular needs and the barriers they face when using health services. 
Links with local black and minority ethnic community groups are well established and 
help us review the equality impact of any service changes. For example, the impact 
of extended access to primary care services. 
 
WHCCG is working with local sixth form colleges to reach younger people and 
deliver health messages to take through life. 
 

7.2 Health Involvement Network and PPG network 
Our Health Involvement Network is a virtual group of local people who have signed 
up to help support our work by sharing their experiences and views on a range of 
services. The group numbers around 194 volunteers and in the past year they have 
helped us by attending focus groups, reviewing documents and completing surveys. 
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Focus groups and surveys included: 

• Community ophthalmology 
• ENT 
• Community cardiology 
• Diabetes 
• Mental health in primary care. 

 
WHCCG also run a network of all the Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) 
associated with our 49 GPs. The network meets twice a year to hear from a range of 
relevant speakers and to hold workshops to help each other to support their GPs. 
The PPGs also help the CCG with completing surveys, attending focus groups and 
allowing us to hear the patient voice. WHCCG is working with the PPG network to 
support PCNs, and we also attend Community Engagement Group, which is ran by a 
patient group, every month. 
 
7.3 Annual General Meetings 
The CCG hosted two AGMs (to ensure the WHCCG Board visited both our 
directorates) in 2019 to share information, celebrate achievements, and discuss our 
vision for the future, in Winchester and Lymington to increase participation in local 
communities.  
The CCG works closely with many local organisations and the public meetings 
showed how joined up care works in practice – particularly helping people to live well 
as they get older. These included: 

• Hampshire Fire service 
• One Community 
• Medicines management team (WHCCG) 
• Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust  
• University of the Third Age 
• Dementia awareness 
• Healthworks Eastleigh Borough Council  
• Radian  
• Age Concern Hampshire. 

Board members and senior managers from WHCCG were on hand to answer 
questions. 
 

7.4 Social media 
WHCCG recognise the important role social media plays for delivering timely 
messages to people who have a vested interest in the organisation. The social 
media channels WHCCG uses include: Twitter, Facebook, Instagram, LinkedIn, 
YouTube and Soundcloud.  
During 2019/20 highlighted the available health services within the community, what 
work WHCCG are doing, and how followers can get involved in developing services. 
Across all channels WHCCG have had a steady increase of followers.  
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A major focus for this year has been empowering individuals to self-care and 
alternative services to A&E departments at peak times of the year such as winter or 
bank holidays.  
The self-care agenda has been highlighted in the CCG’s support of national 
campaigns such as Help Us Help You and Every Mind Matters, as well as 
developing local campaign materials such as Use the Right Service. 
To support local partners in times of high demand on services, throughout the year 
WHCCG have issued messages around weekend and evening GP appointments 
and guidance to ensure local people are choosing the right place for their healthcare 
needs at the right time.   
 

7.5 Press and local TV 
WHCCG’s communication team share news about local healthcare and public health 
messages with our local reporters and broadcasters. Highlights over the last year 
include: 

• Dr. Rory Honney, GP at St. Mary’s Surgery, Andover and James House, 
Deputy Director of Commissioning, WHCCG, speaking about health choices 
on Unity 101 FM 

• GPs at Andover Health Centre participating in a social enterprise to bike to 
patients across their local area  

• Hedge End Medical Centre celebrating four years of making appointment 
access easier through eConsult, an online service for patients to get NHS 
advice or make contact on any day, at any time. 

All CCG press releases can be found on our website. 
 
7.6  The Link 
The Link is a quarterly newsletter that is sent to WHCCG’s stakeholders that outlines 
the achievements and plans for the future of healthcare in west Hampshire. 
Highlights over the last year include: 

• In partnership with SCCCG, we were awarded £15,000 as a one-off sum from 
NHS England to support initiatives regarding diabetic foot care. 

• Promoting a free new NHS appointment service has been made available for 
people of all ages – adults and children, across West Hampshire and 
Southampton who have problems with their eyes 

• Launching our Use the Right Service campaign. 
To receive The Link click here. 
 

7.7 Reducing health inequality  
Reducing health inequalities is core to the NHS constitution and values and is a 
national commissioning priority.  The CCG has a number of duties under the Health 
and Social Care Act (2012) regarding health inequalities in the way services are 
commissioned, and ensure the provision of healthcare. By taking action with local 
authorities to reduce health inequalities, WHCCG will realise substantial population 
health gains, reduced healthcare spend and improved health outcomes. 

https://westhampshireccg.nhs.uk/
mailto:whccg.communications@nhs.net?subject=Health%20Matters
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Social and economic determinants of health such as income, employment, education 
and environment lead to inequalities in health. WHCCG works collaboratively across 
all sectors, particularly with local authorities, to develop systems to reduce health 
inequalities. Increased interaction and information sharing between partners will help 
establish initiatives and maximise utilisation of healthcare services.  
 
The CCG’s rural geography can often affect accessibility to services. There is 
awareness that there is a need to create greater access to alternative community, 
services where social networks may be poorly developed.  The CCG is currently a  
exploring the current utilisation of services in these settings to help ascertain if 
commissioning primary care services, including public health services from these 
providers, can help reduce inequalities in health. 
 
Over the last year the CCG has continued to work hard to identify and address 
equality issues and health inequalities faced by local communities. We are 
committed to reducing inequalities as set out in Section 14 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
 
WHCCG has achieved improvements through our commissioning work and 
partnerships with local health and wellbeing boards. To support this work, WHCCG 
used the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2) and completed equality analysis to 
assess the impact of commissioning decisions on equality, inclusion and reducing 
health inequalities. 
 
The CCG’s achievements over the past year include: 
 
• Working to address inequalities in access and health outcomes for people with 

mental health issues. This has included working together with service users and 
people with lived experience of mental health issues to design care in GPs that 
meet their needs. Feedback from patients and carers is being incorporated in the 
way in which people experiencing mental health problems are looked after in 
primary care. This is part of the implementation of a primary care mental health 
service in four primary care networks. 
 

• Reducing preventable sight loss through early detection of sight limiting 
conditions. This is aligned to routine sight tests and follow-up appointments after 
eye surgery with optometrists working in collaboration with ophthalmologists.  
 

• The CCG has been working to increase the number of annual health checks for 
people with learning disabilities, dementia, autism or serious mental illness so 
that at least 75% of people on the learning disability register receive one. 

 
• WHCCG has continued the work with Healthwatch Hampshire and Eastleigh 

Borough Council to pilot a ‘communication support card’ with people from Black, 
Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities in Eastleigh. The idea was raised 
by people from BAME communities themselves, and the card is personalised for 
people who speak limited English and includes: 
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o The person’s name 
o NHS number 
o Language for which they require an interpreter.  

 
The card helps GP practice and hospital staff record someone’s communication 
needs and arrange the right interpreter for the appointment.  

 

7.8 Valuing our staff  
It is vital that CCG staff are able to fulfil their potential at work to achieve the best 
outcomes for our local population. WHCCG aims to offer continual development and 
rewarding careers to show that we value our staff, which enables us to continue to 
recruit and retain the best people. 
 
This year has seen significant investment in our people, with a restructure of our 
communications and engagement team bringing together a new internal 
communications lead with organisational development and inclusion specialists, 
ensuring we can provide more focus on high quality staff engagement and 
development. We created and began implementation of our three year ‘Human 
resources, inclusion and organisational development strategy’, interweaving the key 
workforce priorities from the NHS Long Term Plan.  
 
Our strategy focuses on three themes: 

1. Being an employer of choice 
2. Enriching working lives of our staff 
3. Developing a capable workforce. 

 
Being an employer of choice 
 
Our focus on our values this year has enabled a shift in organisational culture to be 
more open and honest, valuing all staff contributions, whilst encouraging innovation 
and healthy challenge. 
 
Our ‘Values into Action’ staff development day, attended by 75% of our staff, offered 
a day of learning based on our values. We hosted a variety of presentations and 
workshops on topics including being compassionate to ourselves, valuing diversity, 
resilience and leadership. We also ran a ‘dragons’ den’ competition where teams 
could pitch ideas to be supported. 
 
We have been successful in weaving equality, diversity and inclusion elements 
throughout our corporate induction and line managers training, helping further 
embed our values of compassion, honesty, fairness and inclusion. 
 
Enriching working lives of staff 
 
In 2019/20 we have undertaken a number of activities to ensure staff have a variety 
of opportunities to engage in the wider work of the CCG and to help us to provide an 
even better experience at work. 
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Our NHS staff survey 2019 saw the highest response rate yet with 81% of staff 
completing the questionnaire. Our staff have told us that significant improvements 
have been made in uptake and quality of appraisals, access to learning and 
development opportunities, and the perception of organisational interest in health 
and wellbeing. These improvements have set the trajectory for more work to come 
next year.  
 
Our staff forum was reinvigorated with new members, a dedicated training day and 
bi-monthly discussion meetings. Our forum enables staff to communicate their views 
and actively influence matters that affect them at work. So far the group have been 
influential in developing our new staff recognition scheme and bringing forward their 
experiences of flexible working practices, enabling improvements to be made where 
possible. 
 
A number of our staff were nominated for national awards, and our ‘RESTORE2™’ 
project team won the NHS Parliamentary Award for ‘Excellence in Primary Care. The 
RESTORE2™ tool is an care home early warning system that helps staff decide if a 
resident is just ‘under the weather’ or at risk of a serious illness. In addition, our 
Frailty Support Team’s ‘Keeping Me at Home’ project, a collaboration with local 
hospitals, GP, social care and voluntary sector teams, won the NHS Elect Patient 
Experience and Quality Improvement Awards in the category of ‘Excellent 
Teamwork’. 
 
A number of health and wellbeing initiatives have been successful this year, 
including a series of activities as part of self-care week, a number of staff 
‘graduating’ from our in-house ‘couch to 5k’ programme and an increased focus on 
mental health via our newly trained mental health first aiders. 
 
Developing a capable workforce 
 
Our induction processes for new staff were reviewed and refreshed and a new 
corporate induction day implemented, receiving overwhelmingly positive feedback, 
helping to ensure we provide the best possible experience from the outset. 
 
This year saw a focus on our line managers to help them to get the best out of their 
teams. A series of training days supported by an online toolkit was put together with 
50 staff taking the time out to reflect on their practices. 
 
A learning needs analysis identified a set of core skills our staff felt were needed to 
help them do their jobs better. A series of one-day masterclasses were delivered to 
help meet those learning needs. 
 
Our learning and development policy has been refreshed to lay out an array of 
learning opportunities available to staff and open up fair and equal access to 
resources. Work to expand these opportunities will continue into 2020/21. 
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8 Performance Analysis  
 

8.1 Performance against key standards and targets 

The following table summarises CCG’s 2019/20 performance against key indicators: 
 
 

 
  

Are patients rights under the NHS Constitution being promoted?
Red - Target missed;  Amber - w ithin 5% of target; Green - Target met

NHS Constitution Measures
Referral to Treatment waiting times for non-urgent consultant-led treatment
Patients on incomplete non-emergency pathways (yet to start treatment) should have been waiting 
no more than 18 weeks from referral 92.00% 85.0%

Diagnostic test waiting times

Patients waiting for a diagnostic test should have been waiting less than 6 weeks from referral >99.00% 96.8%

A&E waits
Patients should be admitted, transferred or discharged within 4 hours of their arrival at an A&E 
department (CCG) 95.00% 82.8%

Cancer waits - 2 week wait
Maximum 2-week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients referred urgently with suspected 
cancer by a GP 93.00% 94.0%

Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients referred urgently with breast 
symptoms (where cancer was not initially suspected) 93.00% 93.7%

Cancer waits 31 days:                                             

Maximum one month (31-day) wait from diagnosis to first definitive trreatment for all cancers 96.00% 93.6%

Maximum 31-day wait for a subsequent treatment where the treatment is surgery 94.00% 77.4%

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where that treatment is an anti-cancer drug 
regime 98.00% 99.7%

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is a course of radiotherapy 94.00% 94.0%

Cancer Waits 62 days:                                            

Maximum two month (62-days) wait from urgent GP referral to first definitive treatment for cancer 85.00% 76.8%

Maximum 62-day wait from referral from an NHS screening service to first definitive treatment for all 
cancers 90.00% 86.2%

Maximum 62-day wait for first definitive treatment following a consultants decision to upgrade the 
priority of the patient (all cancers) 86.00% 88.0%

Category 1-4 Ambulance calls:                                  
Category 1 is for calls about people with life-threatening injuries and illnesses, resulting in an 
emergency response arriving within 7 minutes (Cat 1) 00:07:00 00:07:16

Category 2 is for emergency calls, resulting in an emergency response arriving within 18 minutes 
(Cat 2) 00:18:00 00:17:45

Category 3 is for urgent calls, resulting in a response within 120 minutes (Cat 3) 02:00:00 02:09:36

Category 4 is for less urgent calls, resulting in a response within 180 minutes (Cat 4) 03:00:00 02:57:32

Breaches in a hospital setting

Mixed Sex Accommodation breaches 0 137

Healthcare Associated Infections: Clostridium Difficile (C.Diff) 160 127

Healthcare Associated Infections: Incidence of MRSA 0 3

2019/20Target
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9 Sustainable development and environmental matters 
 

We work in partnership with our suppliers, stakeholders and communities to consider 
the social, economic, environmental and ethical impact of our processes. 
Sustainability is applied alongside value for money considerations, and a number of 
initiatives have been successfully implemented as part of our commitment to creating 
a sustainable future including: 
 
• A move towards a ‘flexible working’ approach which will have a positive impact 

on commuter miles and office space 
• The development of a ‘paper light’ plan to minimise the impact on valuable 

resources through printing and paper use 
• The introduction of a secure printing system which requires users to release 

their print jobs from output devices, thereby reducing printed waste from 
documents left uncollected at the printer 

• Introduced a recycling system that has reduced our business waste.  
• Reducing our use of single use plastic. 

 
 

Are patients rights under the NHS Mental Health measures being promoted?
Red - Target missed;  Amber - w ithin 5% of target; Green - Target met

NHS Mental Health Measures
Early Intervention in Psychosis waiting times (Data Apr - Sep 19)
Patients experiencing first episode psychosis will be treated with a NICE-approved care package 
within two weeks of referral 56.00% 81.25%

Dementia Diagnosis Rate (Mar-20)

Patients aged 65+ with dementia should be formally diagnosed 66.70% 61.00%

Care Programme Approach  (Data Apr - Dec 19)
The proportion of people under Adult Mental Health illness appeals on CPA who were followed up 
within 7 days of discharge from psychiatric inpatient care during the period 95.00% 97.83%

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies   (Data Apr 19 - Feb 20)
Services should be providing timely access to treatment for at least 22% of those who could 
benefit (people with anxiety disorders and depression) 22.00% 18.15%

Patients referred to this service should start treatment within 6 weeks of referral 75.00% 92.56%

Patients referred to this service should start treatment within 18 weeks of referral 95.00% 99.84%

Patients who complete treatment should recover 50.00% 54.05%

Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services   (Data Apr 19 - Mar 20)

Patients referred to this service should receive an assessment within 4 weeks of referral 95.00% 30.02%

Patients referred to this service should receive a treatment within 18 weeks of referral 95.00% 43.10%

Children and Young People Accessing Mental Health Services   (Data Apr 19 - Mar 20)
Services should be providing a minimum of 2 contacts including treatment for at least 34% of 
those who could benefit (children and young people with a mental health diagnosis) 34.00% 43.95%

Children and Young People Eating Disorder Services   (Data Apr 19 - Mar 20)

Patients referred to these services as an urgent referral should be seen within 1 week 95.00% 40.00%

Patients referred to these services as a routine referral should be seen within 4 weeks 95.00% 71.13%

Target 2019/20
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9.1 Our use of resources 
The CCG has two main office bases – Omega House, Eastleigh, and 5th Floor 
Fareham Civic Offices. The following tables show our resource consumption over the 
past year. 

 

Financial data (spend): Units 

2019/20 

Omega 
House 

2019/20 

Fareham 
Borough 
Council* 

Total energy cost 
(all energy supplies) 

£ £18,394.11 £133,101.81 

Electricity cost £ £20,246 £108,633.54 

Gas cost £ £2,337 £15,857.81 

Water cost £ £788.94 £8,609.46 

Resource Use: Units 2019/20  

Electricity consumed 

Up to 28 Feb 2020 
kWh 121,900 867599.9 

Gas consumed 

Up to  28 Feb 2020 
kWh 64,108 505525 

Water/sewerage 
Consumed – up to 

22.12.18 
m3 6,412 31575 

  
* Fareham Civic Offices is a building comprising of 10 floors and the energy costs 
relate to the whole premises. Floor by floor energy data is not available 

 
9.2 Building cost breakdown 2019/20   

 
* Fareham Civic Offices is a building comprising of 10 floors and the energy costs 
relate to the whole premises. Floor by floor energy data is not available 
 
 

Building Name 
Tenant 

Occupancy % 
Total Tenant 

Area (m2) 
Electricity Cost 

19/20 
Gas Cost 

19/20 
Water Cost 

19/20 

Omega House 47.83% 883.95m2 £15,876.41 £1,058.88 £1,458.82 

Fareham Civic 
Offices* 18.05% 547.6m2 £108,633.54 £15,857.81 £8,609.46 



Performance Report 

46 

9.3 Building consumption breakdown 2019/20   
 

Building Name 
Tenant 

Occupancy 
% 

Total 
Tenant 

Area (m2) 

Electricity 
Consumption 

19/20 

Gas 
Consumption 

19/20 

Water 
Consumption 

19/20 

Omega House 47.83% 883.95m2 121,900 64,108 6,412 

Fareham Civic 
Offices 18.05% 547.6m2 867,600 505,525 31,575 

 

10 Performance measures 
 

10.1 Financial performance  
We have used resources economically and with effectiveness and efficiency in 
2019/20 to plan and buy services for our population, as demonstrated in our audit 
findings report. 
West Hampshire CCG submitted a balanced plan to NHS England in April 2019/20 
which was compliant with all of the CCG business rules, with two exceptions. A 
break even control total replaced the replaced the requirement to deliver an 
underspend equivalent to 1% of the allocation in 2018/19 and the plan did not have 
zero unmitigated risk. The CCG therefore entered the year with a QIPP challenge of 
29.6m (3.7%) which was considered high risk and also net unmitigated risk of 
£14.7m including £9.7m of unidentified QIPP and a £9m risk of over-performance on 
budgets, both of which were only partially offset by £4m contingency. The 
unidentified QIPP in the plan was largely driven by pressures of £12m that were 
resolved non-recurrently in 2018/9, including significant support from NHS England. 
It was therefore unlikely that the plan was achievable without a similar level of 
support in 2019/20. 
The CCG ended the 2018/19 financial year with a carry-forward underspend of just 
£0.046m after having received substantial financial report in-year from NHS England. 
Therefore any in-year crystallisation of the planned net unmitigated risk would move 
the CCG to both an in-year and a cumulative deficit position. 
West Hampshire CCG received total resource allocations of £815.2m, including 
£72.8m for delegated primary care co-commissioning and £12.6m for running costs. 
Net expenditure against this allocation totalled £827.8m distributed as summarised in 
the charts below. Therefore, at the end of the year the CCG have reported results 
that are £13.6m adverse of the annual plan; which was to deliver an in-year 
breakeven position.  
The key drivers for this in-year overspend position were: 

• Acute contract performance - PbR tariff price pressures and growth in urgent 
care activity £6.1m 

• QIPP - Unidentified QIPP £8.7m and QIPP slippage £1.8m offset by 
contingency £(4.0)m 
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• Continuing Healthcare and High Cost Placements - Growth in high cost clients 
and retrospective payments £2.2m 

• Prescribing - NCSO, Cat M and overall growth in volume of prescriptions 
£1.7m 

• Other - Including underspends on Headquarters and reserves slippage 
£(2.9)m. 

We were successful in achieving all of our other key statutory and administrative 
financial duties during the financial year ended 31st March 2020. More information 
on these duties is set out in the annual accounts and summarised in the table in the 
following section. 
The CCG’s Financial Recovery Plan (FRP) continued to focus on curtailing 
expenditure in 2019/20 and improving the financial position in year. The FRP 
included some one-off financial benefits. These items will not recur in future but have 
helped deliver the 2019/20 financial position. The FRP has been updated in 2020/21 
and will remain in place until the CCG sustains a fully compliant financial position. 
 

 
 

 

50% 

14% 

8% 

4% 
2% 

11% 

9% 

2% Total Spend 2019/20 £829m 
Acute Providers

Community Providers

Continuing Healthcare

Other Non NHS Contracts

Other Primary Care

36% 

38% 

6% 

4% 

5% 

3% 
2% 

2% 1% 3% Acute Provider Spend 2019/20 £409m 
Hampshire Hospitals FT

University Hospitals
Southampton FT
Royal Bournemouth FT

Salisbury FT

South Central Ambulance

Portsmouth Hospitals NHST



Performance Report 

48 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

43% 

7% 

1% 

7% 

32% 

3% 
5% 

2% Community Provider Spend 2019/20 £119m 
Southern Health FT
(Community)
Solent Community Healthcare

Community Phlebotomy
Service
Other Community Providers

Southern Health FT (Mental
Health)
Southern Health FT (IAPT)

CAMHS

22% 

3% 

4% 

31% 

26% 

1% 
2% 

2% 2% 
1% 

6% 

Other Spend 2019/20 £301m 
Continuing Care

Better Care Fund and S256 Schemes

Funded Nursing Care

Medicines Management

Primary Care Co-Commissioning and
Extended Services
Transformation Fund

Voluntary Organisations & Private
Providers
Patient Transport

111 and Out of Hours
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10.2 Objectives and performance for the year 
Our financial results for 2019/20 are set out in the table below with further 
information included in the full annual accounts, which are published alongside this 
annual report. 
 
Headline Results Target 

£’000 
Actual 
£’000 

Target 
Achieved 

Revenue underspend/(overspend) £46 £(13,536) No 
Running costs within allocation £12,621 £10,962 Yes 
Cash managed to within 1.25% of Maximum Cash 
Drawdown limit 

£772 £178 Yes 

Over 95% of our suppliers paid within 30 days by 
value 

95% 99% Yes 

Over 95% of our suppliers paid within 30 days by 
volume 

95% 99% Yes 

 
 
10.3. Prospects for 2020/21 and beyond: Financial Resilience and Going 
Concern considerations 
10.3.1 Revenue costs 
COVID-19 presents the NHS with arguably the greatest challenge it has faced since 
its creation. Simon Stevens, NHS Chief Executive, wrote to all NHS organisations in 
March 2020 setting out actions that the NHS must undertake in order to redirect staff 
and resources to respond to this challenge. This letter set out revised financial 
arrangements for the NHS for the period between 1 April and 31 July. In summary 

• The operational planning process for 2020/21 has been suspended 
• The usual PBR national tariff payment architecture and associated 

administrative/ transactional processes have been suspended 
• Additional funding to cover the extra costs of responding to the coronavirus 

emergency has been promised. 

As a result of the above the CCG has agreed block contracts with the NHS providers 
with whom we have a contract to cover the period 1 April to 31 July. It is expected 
that any financial pressures that this may cause the CCG will be funded from NHSE/I 
during this period. 
10.3.2 Funding for commissioners 
Commissioner allocations for 2020/21 were notified to the CCG as part of 
operational planning and have not been changed. However, in assessing the CCG’s 
financial position and affordability NHSE/I will take into account: 
a) The impact of the block contracting approach set out above including both the 
cost of removing the tariff efficiency factor and the benefit of excluding activity growth 
from the calculation 
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b) Expected reductions in investments for service developments 

• the temporary arrangements for non-contracted activity, transferring funding 
to make sure that lead commissioners have adequate funds to pay providers; 
and 

• the costs of additional service commitments, for example for out of hours 
provision, additional NHS111 investment, purchase of step-down beds and 
provision of rapid discharge/ additional social care capacity. 

c) NHSE/I will also be reviewing planned transformation initiatives, and where they 
consider that these will not be able to proceed during the coronavirus emergency 
NHSE/I will reflect this in the distribution of transformation funding. 
10.3.3 Underlying financial position 
West Hampshire CCG accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis 
(despite the issue of a report to the Secretary of State for Health under Section 30 of 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014). 
 
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of 
the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of 
financial provision for that service in published documents. 
Where a CCG considers that it might become financially unviable or cease to exist, it 
will then consider whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the 
same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the 
concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If services will 
continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern 
basis. 
The CCG approved draft budgets and a draft plan for 2020/21 on 30th April 2020 and 
this position remains the latest to be shared with the Board. Given the extent of the 
challenging financial position in the plan for 2020/21, the CCG Board would have 
usually formally considered its going concern status and financial resilience going 
forward when it adopted the final plan, however, this has not yet been considered 
due to the reasons set out above. It is expected that the Board will make a formal 
assessment of going concern at the end of the current emergency period. 
It would be recommended that members could remain assured the CCG is a going 
concern in the light of the following key points that support the financial outlook for 
the CCG for 2020/21 and beyond. 
The HIOW STP submitted their Long Term Plan in November 2019 showing a 
financial gap of £52m in 2020/21. At this stage in the planning process West 
Hampshire CCG was showing a deficit of £19.7m in 2020/21. The STP subsequently 
agreed a number of actions to close the gap across HIOW resulting in West 
Hampshire CCG improving the 2020/21 position to show a plan deficit of £12.9m, 
which was resubmitted by the STP in January 2020. A number of programme work 
streams to include Integrated Care, Outpatient and Digital work streams have since 
been developed to model how the system could return to financial balance over the 5 
years period.  
The table below shows West Hampshire CCG’s Long Term Plan against the national 
trajectory, which will deliver financial balance by the end of year 5. 
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Also for consideration is the increasing emphasis in future NHS planning on the 
Local Delivery System planning envelope and financial position. Longer term 
sustainability and financial balance for the bundle of services within the current West 
Hampshire CCG envelope is increasingly likely to be taken as part of the overall 
future viability of the STP and ICS and this provides more assurance that the CCG 
should continue to account for these services on a going concern basis. 
The CCG has an agreed Governance Framework and continuing Operational Plan 
and is operating within its constitution to govern its activities. As can be seen, the 
CCG has been allocated funds from NHS England (NHSE) up until 2023-24 in line 
with the Government's Five Year Forward View. Alongside this the CCG has 
submitted financial plans to the Governing Body and NHSE up until March 2024. 
Included within the operating plans are efficiency savings to the value of £106m to 
offset financial pressures otherwise not covered by allocation; a number of 
programme work streams have been identified to model how the HIOW system could 
return to financial balance and the STP is in the process of developing these work 
streams into deliverable efficiency savings plans. Due to the existence of plans going 
forward and the mitigation of all financial risk it is concluded that under the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) NHS West Hampshire CCG is a 
going concern for financial reporting purposes. 
 
10.4 External auditors remuneration 
The CCG’s external auditor is Grant Thornton UK LLP. Their audit covers both the 
CCG’s financial statements and arrangements for securing value for money in its use 
of resources. The audit fee for the 2019/20 annual accounts is £45,000 plus VAT. In 
addition, Grant Thornton were required to validate the 2018/19 year-end position on 
meeting the Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) to ensure that the CCG’s 
2018/19 investment in mental health rises at a faster rate than the overall published 
programme funding. This review cost £10,000 plus VAT and was accrued into the 
CCG’s 2018/19 position. 
 
10.5 Pension liabilities 
The CCGs accounting policy for pension liabilities is included at note 1.7.2 
(retirement benefit costs) with the CCGs statement on accounting policies. Detailed 
information on senior managers pension benefits is included within the remuneration 
report. 
 
10.6 Cost allocation and setting of charges for information 
We certify that the clinical commissioning group has complied with HM Treasury’s 
guidance on cost allocation and the setting of charges for information. 
 
10.7 Better Payments Practice Code 
The Better Practice Payment Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices 
by the due date or with 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. The 
NHS aims to pay at least 95% of invoices within 30 days of receipt, or within the 

West Hampshire CCG's Long Term Plan 19/20 FOT 20/21 Plan 21/22 Plan 22/23 Plan 23/24 Plan
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s

Plan Trajectory -13,456 -12,886 -18,440 -8,149 310
National Trajectory 0 0 2,000 320 310
Distance from Trajectory -13,456 -12,886 -20,440 -8,469 -0 
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agreed contract terms. Details of compliance with the code are given in note 6.1 to 
the accounts. 

10.8 Prompt payments code 
The CCG has signed up to the Prompt Payments Code. Code signatories undertake 
to pay suppliers on time, give clear guidance to suppliers and encourage good 
practice by requesting that lead suppliers encourage adoption of the code throughout 
their own supply chains. 

10.9 Off payroll engagements 
The CCG had one off payroll engagement during the financial year. Details of off 
payroll engagements are provided in the remuneration report. 

Signed 

Maggie MacIsaac 

Accountable Officer 

23 June 2020 
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Maggie MacIsaac
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 

11 Directors’ / Members’ report 
 

11.1 Our member practices 

Until December 2019 there were 49 GP Member Practices covered within 
West Hampshire CCG; since January 2020 there have been 48. The practices 
are organised into six localities led by GPs working in the local area. 

 
Locality  GP practices 

Andover 
 
Locality Clinical Director:  
Dr Rory Honney  
 

Andover Health Centre 
Charlton Hill Surgery  
Shepherds Spring Medical Centre 
St Mary’s Surgery 
The Adelaide Medical Centre 
Two Rivers Medical Partnership  
(also known as Whitchurch Surgery and 
Derrydown Clinic) 

Eastleigh North and Test 
Valley South 
 
Locality Clinical Director:  
Dr Stuart Ward  

Abbeywell Surgery  
Alma Road Surgery 
Archers Surgery 
Boyatt Wood Surgery 
North Baddesley Health Centre  
Park and St Francis Surgery  
Parkside Family Practice  
St. Andrew’s Surgery  
The Fryern Surgery 

Eastleigh Southern 
Parishes 
 
Locality Clinical Director:  
Dr Karl Graham 
 

Blackthorn Medical Centre 
Bursledon Surgery (until December 2019) 
Hedge End Medical Centre 
St Luke’s and Botley Surgery 
West End Surgery 
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West New Forest 
 
Locality Clinical Director:  
Professor Johnny Lyon-Maris  

Barton Surgery 
Chawton House Surgery  
Cornerways Medical Centre 
Lyndhurst Surgery 
New Forest Central Medical Group  
New Milton Health Centre 
Ringwood Medical Centre  
The Arnewood Practice  
The Fordingbridge Surgery  
Twin Oaks Medical Centre  
Wistaria and Milford Surgery 

Winchester 
 
Locality Clinical Director:  
Dr Lorne McEwan  

Alresford Group Surgery 
Bishops Waltham Surgery 
Friarsgate Practice  
Gratton Surgery  
St Clements Partnership  
St Paul’s Practice 
Stockbridge Surgery 
Stokewood Surgery 
Twyford Surgery 
Watercress Medical Group 
West Meon Surgery  
Wickham Group Surgery 

Totton and Waterside 
 
Locality Clinical Director:  
Dr Charlie Besley 

Totton Health Centre 
Forest Gate Surgery 
Testvale Surgery 
Red and Green Practice 
Forestside Medical Practice 
Waterfront and Solent Surgery 

 
 



Accountability Report 

55 

11.2 Our Board (governing body)  

 Our Chairman throughout the year and up to the signing of the Annual Report 
and Accounts has been Dr Sarah Schofield. From April 2019 until end of July 
2019 our Accountable Officer was Heather Hauschild. Since then our 
Accountable Officer has been Maggie MacIsaac, who is also the Chief 
Executive of the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Partnership of CCGs as well as 
Southampton City CCG. 

 
11.3 Board members  

The Board comprised the following members during the year: 
 

• Dr Charlie Besley, Locality Clinical Director, Totton and Waterside  
• Ruth Colburn-Jackson, Managing Director, North and Mid Hampshire 

(from 20 January 2020)* 
• Mike Fulford, Chief Finance Officer, and Deputy Chief Officer (until end of 

July 2019) and Chief Operating Officer (from August 2019) 
• Simon Garlick, Lay Member, Governance  
• Judith Gillow, Lay Member, Quality and Patient and Public Involvement 
• Karl Graham, Locality Clinical Director, Eastleigh Southern Parishes 
• Heather Hauschild, Chief Officer (until end of July 2019) 
• Dr Adrian Higgins, Medical Director  
• Dr Rory Honney, Locality Clinical Director, Andover  
• Professor Johnny Lyon-Maris, Locality Clinical Director, West New Forest 
• Lorne McEwan, Locality Clinical Director, Winchester and Rural  
• Maggie MacIsaac, Chief Executive (Accountable Officer) (from August 

2019) 
• Ellen McNicholas, Director of Quality and Nursing  
• Alison Rogers, Lay Member, Strategy and Finance  
• Dr Sarah Schofield, Clinical Chairman 
• James Smallwood, Secondary Care Consultant  
• Caroline Ward, Lay Member, New Technologies  
• Dr Stuart Ward, Locality Clinical Director, Eastleigh North and Test Valley 

South 
• Jenny Erwin, Director of Commissioning, Mid Hampshire (until 19 January 

2020) and Director of Mental Health Transformation and Delivery (from 20 
January 2020)* 

• Rachael King, Director of Commissioning, South West*  
• Heather Mitchell, Director of Strategy and Service Development (until July 

2019)*  
 

* Non-voting member 
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11.4 Audit committee members  

The CCG’s audit committee has comprised the following members during the 
year: 

 
• Simon Garlick, Lay Member, Governance and Chair  
• Judith Gillow, Lay Member, Quality and Patient and Public Involvement 
• Alison Rogers, Lay Member, Strategy and Finance 
• Caroline Ward, Lay Member, New Technologies. 

 
The CCG’s Chief Operating Officer / Chief Finance Officer, Director of Quality 
and Nursing and other managers are in attendance at or invited to meetings of 
the committee along with representatives of the internal and external audit 
service providers, and the local counter fraud specialist. 

  
11.5 Further details and references 

The appendix to the Annual Governance Statement provides details of the 
membership, attendance records and declarations of interests for members of 
the Board and all of its sub-committees.  
 
The register of Board members’ interests is also published as part of the 
agenda and papers for Board meetings held in public and is available on the 
CCG’s website. 
 
In line with the statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interests (revised 
in June 2017), the CCG also publishes online the register of interests for all 
employed staff. 

 
11.6 Personal data related incidents 

There were no incidents graded as Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation 
(SIRIs) throughout 2019/20 which required reporting to the Information 
Commissioners Office (ICO).  A response to a SIRI reported in 2018/19 
remains outstanding.  

 
11.7 Statement as to disclosure to auditors 

Each individual who is a member of the Board (governing body) has 
confirmed:  
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• So far as he or she is aware, there is no relevant audit information of 
which the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the 
purposes of their audit report; and  

• That he or she has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken 
in order to make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it. 

 
11.8 Modern Slavery Act 

West Hampshire CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate 
modern slavery and human trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking 
Statement for the financial year ending 31 March 2020 is published on our 
website at https://westhampshireccg.nhs.uk/slavery-and-human-trafficking-
statement/. 

 

https://westhampshireccg.nhs.uk/slavery-and-human-trafficking-statement/
https://westhampshireccg.nhs.uk/slavery-and-human-trafficking-statement/
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12 Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer 
shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS 
England has appointed the Chief Executive to be the Accountable Officer of NHS 
West Hampshire CCG. 
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the 
Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They 
include responsibilities for: 
 
• The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable 

Officer is answerable 
• For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable 

accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the 
requirements of the Accounts Direction) 

• For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities) 

• The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public 
Money 

• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically (in accordance with section 14Q of the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement 
in the quality of services (in accordance with section 14R of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) 

• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under sections 223H 
to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has 
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a 
statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts 
Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its 
income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the 
financial year. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to 
comply with the requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual 
and in particular to: 
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• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the 

relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent basis; 

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government 

Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain 
any material departures in the accounts; and 

• Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and 
• Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced 

and understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report 
and Accounts and the judgements required by determining that it is fair, 
balanced and understandable. 

 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, and subject to the disclosures set out 
below, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out under the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in my 
Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer appointment letter. 
 
On 31 March 2020, in accordance with section 30 (b) of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014, the auditor appointed to the audit of NHS West 
Hampshire CCG (Grant Thornton) made a referral to the Secretary of State for 
Health. 
 
The auditor had reason to believe that NHS West Hampshire CCG would breach 
its breakeven duty and revenue resource limit for the year ending 31 March 
2020. As at month nine, the CCG anticipated incurring expenditure of £13.6 
million in excess of its income and overspending its revenue resource limit by 
£13.6 million. In the absence of further action, it was highlighted to the Secretary 
of State that NHS West Hampshire CCG will breach its breakeven duty and 
revenue resource limit for the year ending 31 March 2020 as it has begun to take 
a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, will cause a loss. This 
matter was already known to the Secretary of State. 
 
I also confirm that as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of 
which the auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all 
the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that West Hampshire CCG’s auditors are aware of 
that information. 
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13 Annual Governance Statement 2019/20 
 

1. Introduction and context 
West Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is a body corporate 
established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended). 
 
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is 
arranging the provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health 
service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the 
provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to 
meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.   
 
As at 1 April 2019, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any 
directions from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006. 
 
West Hampshire CCG comprises 48 GP practices and works through a 
membership model with an allocated budget of more than £811 million. We work 
in partnership with members, patients, carers, the public, local authorities, the 
voluntary and community sectors and neighbouring commissioners to plan, buy, 
manage and ensure the quality of local healthcare services for a population of 
over 550,000 people. The CCG, by virtue of its geographical breadth, has the 
opportunity to work with a diverse range of acute, community and mental health 
service providers with their own unique configurations and challenges. 

 
2. Scope of responsibility 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am 
personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in 
Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under 
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer appointment letter. 
 
I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, 
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for 
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the CCG as 
set out in this governance statement. 
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3. Governance arrangements and effectiveness 
The main function of the governing body (Board) is to ensure that the group has 
made appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions 
effectively, efficiently and economically and complies with such generally 
accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it. 

 

3.1 CCG governance framework 

Constitution 

• The governance framework of West Hampshire CCG is set out in the 
constitution, which was approved by members and made effective by NHS 
England in January 2013, as part of the authorisation process. The 
constitution sets out: 

• The arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of its functions and the 
Board’s (governing body) functions 

• The procedures to be followed by the CCG and the Board in making decisions 
• Arrangements for the discharge of duties in respect of registers of interests 

and management of conflicts of interests 
• Arrangements made by the CCG and the Board for ensuring that there is 

transparency about decision-making and the manner in which decisions are 
made. 
 

This includes supporting documents such as the standing orders, the scheme of 
reservation and delegation and prime financial policies. The constitution and 
supporting documents are published on the CCG’s website. 

 
The constitution was last reviewed and amended during 2017/18 and approved 
by NHS England in July 2018. The changes aimed to ensure that the CCG 
remains fit for purpose for the strategic priorities and challenges of over the next 
few years, with particular to the sustainability and transformation plan and the 
establishment of local delivery/care systems with partners.  
 
In September 2018, NHS England published an updated and fit-for-purpose new 
model CCG constitution. It was envisaged that an application for amending the 
Constitution would be submitted during 2019/20. However, one of the intentions 
of the NHS Long Term Plan published in January 2019 is that all parts of the 
country will be covered by Integrated Care System arrangements by April 2021. 
As part of discussions regarding the Hampshire and the Isle of Wight (HIOW) it 
has been agreed by NHS England / Improvement that HIOW will be in operation 
in shadow form by September 2020, subject to a number of conditions for which 
plans are underway. Alongside this there have been discussions with other local 
CCGs about how commissioning comes together to operate in a collective and 
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collaborative way as part of the changes in the Long Term Plan; the constitution 
will therefore require review as part of this ongoing work once the final 
organisational structure / arrangements across HIOW have been agreed. 

 
The CCG’s governance structure in 2019/20 comprised the following bodies, 
committees and sub-committees: 

 
• Members 
• Board (governing body) 
• Audit Committee 
• Remuneration Committee 
• Clinical Cabinet 
• Clinical Governance Committee 
• Finance and Performance Committee 
• Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
 
Members 
The members are a body comprising representatives from each of the CCG’s 
member practices, established under the constitution. Each practice within the 
CCG has a representative on the members group, which meets at least annually 
to review progress and influence future plans, particularly with regard to 
developing new models of care in line with the NHS Five Year Forward View.  
During 2019/20, the Annual General Meeting was hosted on two occasions: July 
(North and Mid Hampshire area) and September 2019 (South and South West), 
and there have been regular meetings of the localities throughout the year. 

 
Board (Governing Body) 
The Board’s functions and composition are specified within the constitution and 
supporting documents. The Board has a minimum of 19 members of which 
sixteen are voting members – the Clinical Chairman, six locality clinical director 
members (GPs), four lay members (leading on audit / governance matters, 
patient and public participation / quality matters, strategy and finance, and new 
technologies / primary care), the Chief Executive, the Chief Finance Officer / 
Chief Operating Officer, the Medical Director, Director of Quality and Nursing 
(Board nurse) and a secondary care consultant. Other members include the 
Director of Mental Health Transformation and Delivery, Director of 
Commissioning - South West Hampshire, and the Managing Director - North and 
Mid Hampshire. Information about the membership of the Board and its 
committees, including attendance records and declaration of interests, is 
included in Appendix A to this statement. 
 
The Board normally meets formally in public on a bi-monthly basis, which 
includes regular reports covering commissioning developments and strategy, 
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and updates on performance, incorporating finance, quality and other key 
indicators. Papers and minutes of meetings are published routinely on the CCG’s 
website. In alternate months, meetings are held for informal briefings in private 
as well as Board development. 

 
Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee has been established to provide an independent, critical 
and objective review of the CCG’s systems and processes and compliance with 
laws that regulate and govern the NHS.  The Committee’s primary purpose is to 
support the CCG Board to discharge its functions relating to CCG financial duties 
and its main function of overseeing efficiency, effectiveness, economy and 
governance.   
 
In line with Board-approved terms of reference, the Committee works to deliver 
and support an integrated governance, assurance and scrutiny process covering 
all the objectives of the CCG and any risks to them being achieved, including 
corporate and clinical governance, information governance, financial control and 
internal control.  In particular, the Committee with internal control procedures:  

 
• supports the CCG Board in its governance and oversight role  
• provides assurance and scrutiny on objectives and risks  
• reviews the effectiveness of systems and controls  
• reviews the Board Assurance Framework (BAF) and corporate risk 

management arrangements 
• oversees the external audit, internal audit and local counter fraud services, 

and other external assurance functions  
• reviews and approves the CCG’s annual accounts on behalf of the CCG 

Board  
• reviews the register of gifts and hospitality  
• reviews the register of interests 
• accountable for ensuring the effective management, accountability, 

resources, improvements and compliance in all aspects of information 
governance 

 
A comprehensive work programme has been prepared and implemented 
reflecting both mandatory requirements and key risk areas. Meetings have been 
held five times during the year and there is a quorum when two lay members are 
in attendance. An annual report is prepared for and presented to the Board. 
 
Approved minutes of the Audit Committee meetings are submitted to the Board 
and are published on the CCG’s website. Information about the membership of 
the Audit Committee, including attendance records and declaration of interests, 
is included in Appendix A to this statement. 
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Remuneration Committee 
It is required by statute for a CCG’s governing body to have a Remuneration 
Committee. As set out in the remuneration report, the Committee:  
 
• reviews and recommends to the Board pay arrangements for employees of 

the CCG  
• reviews and recommends to the Board and approves remuneration for Board 

members  
• considers national guidance and requirements in relation to pay and 

remuneration.  
 

The Committee has also been established to: 
 
• scrutinise any termination payments, taking account of advice and guidance 

as appropriate and seek advice from NHS England on any significant 
proposed termination payments 

• review and recommends to the Board alternative pension scheme 
arrangements the group might establish 

• assist the CCG Clinical Chairman evaluate the performance of the 
Accountable Officer, and through the Accountable Officer, the Chief Finance 
Officer, and gain assurance on appropriate contractual arrangements for 
such staff, including assurance on succession planning. 
  

Only members of the Board are members of the Remuneration Committee and 
member practice representatives should not be in the majority. The Committee 
comprises the four lay members and two elected member practice 
representatives from the Board.  The Chief Executive will attend Committee 
meetings, but will not be present for matters involving their personal 
remuneration, as is the case for all other Committee members. 
 
In March 2020, as part of the collaborative working in train to develop a single 
commissioning organisation in support of the Hampshire and Isle of Wight 
Integrated Care System, the Remuneration Committees of seven CCGs locally 
held a meeting in common. 
 
The remuneration report is submitted as part of the annual report. Information 
about the membership of the Remuneration Committee, including attendance 
records and declaration of interests, is included in Appendix A to this statement. 

 
Clinical Cabinet  
The Clinical Cabinet comprises clinical directors each with a specific clinical 
portfolio (including medicines management, children and families, primary care 
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and clinical services, mental health and IT) and locality clinical directors drawn 
from each of the group’s six localities. The Medical Director of the CCG is the 
Chair of the Clinical Cabinet, a clinician employed by the CCG, appointed and 
approved by the Board.  

 
Membership of the Clinical Cabinet also includes executive directors to bring 
together all clinical leads and senior management to undertake the following 
core responsibilities:  
 
• approve strategy and clinical policies as delegated by the Board  
• develop a common approach to commissioning strategies  
• provide an opportunity for collective working and sharing of intelligence and 

learning  
• maintain an overview of all commissioning, including activities undertaken by 

localities and the implementation of new models of care 
• facilitate engagement with the wider clinical body 
• provide timely clinical commissioning consideration of key work programmes 
• maximise clinical engagement in commissioning and quality, innovation, 

prevention and productivity (QIPP) and reform plans  
• provide a forum for decisions relating to clinical networks 
• consider as part of its work programme annual priorities and objectives.  

 
As part of the implementation of the NHS Long Term Plan and the national 
framework for GP contract reform, the Clinical Cabinet provides the clinical 
insight and energy to drive change in our local health systems, to develop new 
care models.  CCG members are at the heart of transforming local health and 
care services to keep people well, and bring home care, mental health and 
community nursing, GP services and hospitals together. The primary vehicle for 
reporting to the Board is through the Collaborative Commissioning and Local 
Delivery Systems Reports at each meeting. 
 
Approved minutes of the Clinical Cabinet meetings are submitted to the Board at 
each meeting and are published on the CCG’s website. Information about the 
membership of the Clinical Cabinet, including attendance records and 
declaration of interests, is included in Appendix A to this statement. 

 
Clinical Governance Committee 
The CCG Clinical Governance Committee seeks assurance that the population 
of west Hampshire receives safe and high quality care and that services deliver 
health benefits and positive clinical outcomes and patient experience. The core 
responsibilities of the Clinical Governance Committee are to: 
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• provide an assurance to the CCG Board on all matters concerning duties, 
obligations and responsibilities relating to patient safety, patient experience 
and clinical effectiveness 

• provide assurance to the CCG Board that the process and compliance issues 
concerning Serious Incidents (SIs) and Never Events are robust 

• receive and scrutinise independent investigation reports relating to patient 
safety issues and agree publication plans 

• ensure that all sub-optimal professional and organisational clinical 
performance within commissioned services is effectively identified and 
performance managed via contract mechanisms and that the wider 
implications and trends are addressed 

• ensure there are effective early warning systems which draw on a range of 
quality indicators and other sources of information to identify gaps in 
assurance about providers; this includes the Continuing Healthcare (CHC) 
and Funded Nursing Care service hosted by West Hampshire CCG on behalf 
of the five Hampshire CCGs 

• respond to specific clinical governance and healthcare assurance issues 
identified by the clinical executive, Audit Committee, Clinical Cabinet, 
Finance and Performance Committee, Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee, other CCGs or external regulatory bodies 

• to ensure that decisions made by the Individual Funding Request (IFR) Panel 
for both adults and children on behalf of the CCG are appropriate and that, 
where an individual appeals the decision of the IFR Panel, that an IFR 
appeals panel is established 

• approve and review the CCG’s arrangements for handling complaints  
• approve arrangements to minimise clinical risk, maximise patient safety and 

to secure continuous improvement in quality and patient outcomes 
• support the CCG and NHS England in discharging its responsibilities in 

relation to securing continuous improvement in quality of general medical 
services via the Primary Care Steering Group and Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee. 

• review new / updated national guidance relating to quality and safety, 
together with any implications for the CCG. 

• seek assurance on the performance of NHS organisations in terms of the 
Care Quality Commission, NHS Improvement and any other relevant 
regulatory bodies. 

• oversee the transition and integration of assurance and quality improvement 
mechanisms of the CCG with those of commissioned providers to ensure that 
they continue to provide robust assurance around outcomes for the West 
Hampshire CCG population. 

• review the development of the quality and safeguarding governance 
arrangements in the developing Integrated Care Partnerships (Southampton 
and South West, and North and Mid Hampshire). 
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On behalf of Hampshire CCGs, the Committee provides assurance to each of 
the five Hampshire CCGs’ Quality / Governance Committees on all matters 
concerning duties, obligations and responsibilities relating to safeguarding 
children and looked after children and the service being provided by the 
Continuing Healthcare (CHC) and Funded Nursing Care Team. It also provides 
assurance to North Hampshire and North East Hampshire CCGs’ Quality/ 
Governance Committees on all matters concerning duties, obligations and 
responsibilities relating to safeguarding adults. The Committee also: 

 
• receives assurance that safeguarding adults and children processes for NHS 

commissioned services are robust and work in collaboration with other 
statutory partners. This will include the progress of providers against the 
respective quality assurance frameworks 

• ensures there are annual work plans for safeguarding adults, safeguarding 
children and children in care 

• reviews CCG policies for CHC, safeguarding children and adults and make 
recommendations to the Hampshire CCGs on their approval 

• receives assurance on the quality of health checks, including subsequent 
health outcomes for looked after children. 

 
The Committee has an action tracker which is reviewed at each meeting and 
provides a thorough review mechanism. In addition, the Committee has 
developed an annual work plan / annual reporting plan for the Committee.  This 
is a ‘live’ document which provides assurance that relevant items will be covered 
at appropriate stages throughout the year. 
 
The primary vehicle for the Committee to report to the Board is via the quality 
section of the Integrated Performance Report, which is submitted to the Board at 
each meeting held in public. These provide assurance on the quality of services 
and identify areas for development and action where there are exceptions.  
 
Recent issues escalated to the Board for review include: Cancer performance at 
University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust (UHSFT); Child & 
Adolescent Mental Health Services provided by Sussex Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust not meeting national waiting time standards and assurance 
around the ability to detect and evidence potential harm to service users from 
long waiting times; Millbrook Hampshire Wheelchair Service increases in 
referrals and waiting lists for both adults and children, and impact on 
performance for individuals waiting to receive a wheelchair; positive impact for 
patients of the CCG’s sepsis and deterioration programme; Looked After 
Children increased numbers in Hampshire and the impact on health services, 
and primary care provision of Adult Medicals for Foster Carers and Adopters; 
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acute providers continuing to fail to meet the 95% Emergency Department (ED) 
standard, or meet the recovery trajectories agreed; increased demand and 
deterioration in performance in relation to the 6 week diagnostic care standard; 
improvements in Continuing Healthcare team performance; Opthalmology 
increases in demand for all local providers, as well as lost to follow-up cases 
identified at Hampshire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (HHFT); Care Quality 
Commission visit reports where both Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust and 
HHFT were moved from being rated overall as ‘requires improvement’ to ‘good’. 
 
Approved minutes of the Clinical Governance Committee meetings are 
submitted to the Board at each meeting and are published on the CCG’s 
website. Information about the membership of the Clinical Governance 
Committee, including attendance records and declaration of interests, is included 
in Appendix A to this statement. 

 
Finance and Performance Committee  
The role of the Finance and Performance Committee is to provide robust scrutiny 
of the CCG’s financial position and to provide the Board with assurance that the 
risks to the CCG’s finances (in-year recovery and medium term financial 
planning) and operational performance are being appropriately managed, 
including the reporting of key issues and concerns to the Board for information or 
further consideration. 
 
The priority of the Committee is to strengthen and support the finance and 
performance functions of the CCG given the significant local and national 
pressures and challenges, to ensure longer term sustainability of services and 
finance. To facilitate this, the Committee strives to: 
 
• Seek a specific managerial response in terms of delivery of Directors’ own 

areas of responsibility 
• Identify best practice and innovations and to seek ways to access expertise 

and bring this into the work of the CCG 
• Ensure a cost effective, best practice, evidence-based approach is applied 

rigorously to the CCG’s business, particularly in relation to areas of 
procurement 

• Recognise and identify constraints and opportunities for driving improvements 
• Interface and engage with clinical business management.  
 
Approved minutes of the Finance and Performance Committee meetings are 
submitted to the Board at each meeting and are published on the CCG’s 
website. Information about the membership of the Finance and Performance 
Committee, including attendance records and declaration of interests, is included 
in Appendix A to this statement. 
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Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
West Hampshire CCG took on delegated arrangements from 1 April 2015 and a 
formal Delegation Agreement is in place with NHS England.  The CCG has 
established a Primary Care Commissioning Committee, which carries out the 
functions relating to the commissioning of primary medical services under section 
83 of the NHS Act, including: 

 
• General Medical Services (GMS), Personal Medical Services (PMS) and 

Alternative Provider Medical Services (APMS) contracts (including the design 
of PMS and APMS contracts, monitoring of contracts, taking contractual 
action such as issuing branch/remedial notices, and removing a contract) 

• Newly designed enhanced services (“Local Enhanced Services” and “Directed 
Enhanced Services”) 

• Design of local incentive schemes as an alternative to the Quality Outcomes 
Framework (QOF) 

• Decision making on whether to establish new GP practices in an area; 
• Approving practice mergers 
• Making decisions on ‘discretionary’ payment (e.g., returner/retainer schemes). 

 
During 2019/20 the Committee has undertaken a range of activities: 
 
• Regular review of the 2019/20 financial position and the submission of the 

2020/21 primary care financial plan 
• A review of the delivery of 2019/20 West Hampshire General Practice Forward 

View work programme, including Primary Care Network development  and 
investment 

• Review of the Quality Progression Scheme and Medicines Management 
Optimisation Scheme and plans for 2019-2021. 

• Review of Primary Care Prescribing including individual practice performance  
• Oversight of the development of the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Primary 

Care Strategy  
• Review of the potential merger / closure process of local practices across the 

CCG 
• A regular review of quality performance metrics and to receive assurance that 

appropriate support is in place for all practices 
• Discussions in relation to five-year framework for GP contract reform to 

implement The NHS Long Term Plan, and the proposed next steps 
 

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee holds its meeting in public at least 
four times per year and agenda papers are available on the CCG’s website. 
Approved minutes of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee meetings are 
also submitted to the CCG Board at each meeting and are published on the 
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CCG’s website. Information about the membership of the Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee, including attendance records and register of 
interests, is included in Appendix A to this statement. 

 
Joint arrangements  
The CCG has entered into separate joint arrangements with neighbouring CCGs 
– Southampton City CCG and NHS North Hampshire CCG – to co-ordinate 
arrangements in relation to system resilience / planning and quality review / 
monitoring with common providers of acute and community services regarding 
delivery. The supporting infrastructure has evolved in recent years, with the 
development of Local Delivery or Local Partnership Boards into Integrated Care 
Partnership Boards 

 
There are also collaborative arrangements with the five CCGs within the 
Hampshire local authority area and the eight CCGs including Portsmouth, 
Southampton City and the Isle of Wight, with the latter forming the footprint for 
the development of the sustainability and transformation partnership with local 
providers. 
 
The Sustainability and Transformation Partnership’s (STP) seven core 
programmes focus on transforming the way health and care is delivered 
(prevention at scale, new models of integrated care, effective patient flow and 
discharge, Solent acute alliance, North and Mid Hampshire configuration, mental 
health alliance, and children and maternity) and four enabling programmes to 
create the infrastructure, environment and capabilities to deliver successfully 
(digital infrastructure, estate infrastructure rationalisation, workforce, and new 
commissioning models).  This portfolio of programmes is the shared system 
delivery plan for the STP. The CCG is a core member of the STP Executive 
Delivery Group, and leads on a number of key work streams.  The work of the 
STP provides the foundation for the formal establishment of the Integrated Care 
System later in 2020. 
 
The group has formal arrangements with the local Health and Wellbeing Board. 
Representation on this Board is by the chair of the CCG, who ensures shared 
duties are discharged by the CCG.    
 
The CCG has strong links with Hampshire County Council’s Health and Adult 
Social Care Select Committee, the Safeguarding Children Board, the 
Safeguarding Adult Board, the district Health and Wellbeing Boards, and public 
health.  
 
A key area is the implementation of the iBCF (Improved Better Care Fund), 
whereby the five Hampshire CCGs have agreed to a partnership approach with 
Hampshire County Council to support and accelerate the local transformation 
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and integration of health and social care services.  The Hampshire plan aims to 
join up care and support services, reduce duplication and provide local people 
with the right care, in the right place, at the right time.  
 
The CCG has strong links with the Wessex Local Medical Committee in relation 
to the sustainability of primary care, the development of integrated care with 
other providers, and the provision of advice and support with regard to 
membership issues.  
 
The CCG has no other joint operations with any other agencies or bodies. 

 
Board performance and effectiveness 
All Board members have clear objectives and a schedule of regular one-to-one 
meetings is held to oversee progress, culminating in a year-end appraisal of 
performance, undertaken by the chair and / or Chief Operating Officer / Chief 
Officer, as appropriate.  
 
During the year there have been changes in the membership of the Board with 
the appointment of a new Accountable Officer (following the resignation of the 
previous post holder) and the new role of Chief Operating Officer. As a result the 
composition of the Board differs from a year ago.  
 
A programme of personal and corporate Board development has continued as 
part of the wider organisational development plan. This included: 

 
• planning for increasing the effectiveness of Board interactions – both in 

formal meetings and in briefing 
• a shared understanding of the role of the Board and its corporate strategic 

responsibilities including the role of its constituent members (including Board 
GPs/Locality Clinical Directors, lay members and executive directors) 

• a shared understanding of the challenges and risks facing the Board, 
including the Board’s appetite for risk 

• helping the Board to implement any changes to improve Board effectiveness. 
 

Assurance is also derived from the performance improvement and scrutiny role 
undertaken by a range of different groups and individuals including: 
 
• the active and comprehensive counter fraud service employed by the CCG, 

and detailed reviews from internal auditors and external auditors, which 
regularly report to the Audit Committee 

• NHS England’s Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF), which is the 
formal assurance process for CCGs. The IAF was introduced in 2016/17 and 
is structured around four domains (better health; better care; sustainability; 
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and leadership), and six clinical priorities (mental health; dementia; learning 
disabilities; cancer; diabetes; and maternity). The CCG has not yet received 
its annual IAF rating for 2019/20.  Final ratings will be published in June 2020. 

• The latest published full year IAF ratings relate to 2018/19. The final overall 
rating received for 2018/19 was ‘Requires Improvement’ which was consistent 
with the 2016/17 and 2017/18 ratings.  There has been no change in Clinical 
ratings with scores having been rolled forward from 2016/17 as NHS England 
has not re-assessed these indicators i.e. Cancer, Maternity, Mental Health, 
Dementia, Diabetes and Learning Disability. Action plans are in place for all 
areas requiring improvement and progress against plans is monitored on a 
quarterly basis.  

• The Quality of Leadership rating remained at Amber, however there has been 
an improvement for Finance which has moved from Red in 2017/18 to Amber 
in 2018/19. 

• As part of the Annual assessment there are 56 detailed clinical indicators 
which are updated quarterly. The latest updates were published in November 
2019 which shows the CCG is performing well against a large number of 
indicators, including Cancer one year survival rates, Cancer patient 
experience, Women’s experience of Maternity Services, Improving Access to 
Psychological Therapies and Proportion of people on LD register receiving an 
annual health check. 

• Regular assurance reviews led by NHS England, which focus on the IAF and 
include regular review of any IAF indicators where further action is required. 
They are also reviewed as part of the internal CCG assurance process  

• Participation in regular joint strategic meetings with the Chief Executive / Chief 
Operating Officer and directors of Hampshire County Council to foster 
enhanced partnership working across a range of programme areas. 

• Partnership working with health services and provider trusts serving west 
Hampshire, which has developed rapidly during the year, through the 
sustainability and transformation partnership, and the local delivery/care 
systems that will deliver the work of the STP. This includes assurance 
meetings for local delivery systems led by NHS England and NHS 
Improvement in conjunction with the STP. The local delivery system 
assurance meetings focus on delivery of system targets and collaborative 
working for the benefit of the local population. 

 
3.2 UK Corporate Governance Code  

NHS bodies are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance 
Code. However, this Governance Statement is intended to demonstrate the 
CCG’s compliance with the principles set out in the code by drawing on best 
practice available, including aspects of the code we consider to be most relevant 
to the CCG, including: 
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• Leadership – an effective Board which is collectively responsible for the long 
term sustainability of the CCG. 

• Effectiveness – the Board and its committees have an appropriate balance of 
skills, experience, independence and knowledge to enable them to discharge 
their respective duties and responsibilities effectively. 

• Accountability – the Board is responsible for determining the nature and 
extent of the principal risks it is willing to take in achieving its strategic 
objectives. The Board maintains sound risk management and internal control 
systems. 

• Remuneration – remuneration is designed to promote the long-term success 
of the CCG. 

• Relations with stakeholders – engagement and joint working are undertaken 
with a wide range of stakeholders based on the mutual understanding of 
objectives.  

 
This Governance Statement is intended to demonstrate compliance with the 
Best Practice elements set out in Code. For the financial year ended 31 March 
2020, and up to the date of signing this statement, we have not complied with 
the provisions set out in the Code, or applied the principles of the Code. 
 

3.3 Discharge of statutory functions 
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained 
within the corporate governance framework were developed with extensive 
expert external legal input to ensure compliance with all relevant legislation.  
That legal advice also informed the matters reserved for members and the 
Board’s (governing body) decision and the scheme of delegation. These 
arrangements continue to be reviewed through the Board and its Committees, 
and are updated following legislation changes.  
 
In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed 
all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations.  
As a result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements 
associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, 
including any restrictions on delegation of those functions. 
 
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead 
director.  Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary 
capability and capacity to undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties. 
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4. Risk management arrangements and effectiveness 
 

4.1 Overview 
The CCG has robust and transparent processes in place for the governance and 
management of risk. This is the Board Assurance Framework. This outlines to 
the Board at its public meetings what the key risks to our strategic objectives are, 
and provides assurance the risks are being managed in line with the Board’s risk 
appetite. 
 
Key risks over the last year include ensuring our financial situation remains 
sustainable; ongoing financial pressures for our key partners; closing key 
workforce gaps; ensuring our providers are delivering on the constitutional 
standards; tackling system pressures across the health economy; preparedness 
and response to EU Exit; Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services and 
ensuring quality is maintained across all our services to ensure the best possible 
outcome for patients. 
 
The CCG has carried out a range of actions and initiatives to address these 
risks. We have implemented a comprehensive financial recovery plan, engaged 
with partners to help mitigate the wider financial pressures, worked with partners 
across HIOW to make it easier to staff to move within our local system, formed 
our GPs into Primary Care Networks to support our local development systems 
and to work together alongside acute and community services and the voluntary 
sector to deliver better joined up care for local people, and continuously review 
and improve our quality processes. However, we are mindful of ongoing risks for 
current and future challenges that we are actively tackling regarding further 
financial pressures, estates and workforce planning, sustainable transformation 
and progressing new models of care. These are highlighted in our operating 
plans and will be actively managed through our risk management process. 
 

4.2 Risk Management Policy 
West Hampshire CCG recognises that commissioning healthcare services and 
the activities associated with this process, such as redesigning care pathways, 
monitoring performance and quality, and managing finances, all involve a degree 
of risk. 
 
The Board is committed to improving and implementing a risk management 
policy and strategy that identifies, analyses, evaluates and controls the risks that 
threaten the delivery of the CCG’s strategic objectives. The Board Assurance 
Framework is used to provide assurance to the Board regarding the 
identification, evaluation, mitigation and monitoring of aggregated risks to the 
successful delivery of the strategic objectives, and is considered alongside other 
key management tools, such as performance and quality dashboards, and 
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financial reports, to give the Board a comprehensive picture of the organisational 
risk profile. 
 
In July 2019, the CCG reviewed and refined its Risk Appetite maintaining its 
appetite as Cautious i.e. the CCG is willing to consider medium risk delivery 
options when balanced against an acceptable level of reward and value for 
money.  
 
The purpose of the policy is to provide guidance to the Board and all staff on the 
management of strategic and operational risks and issues within the 
organisation. In summary, the policy: 
 
• sets out respective responsibilities for strategic and operational risk 

management for the Board and staff throughout the organisation 
• describes the process to be used in identifying, analysing, evaluating and 

controlling risks to the delivery of the strategic objectives  
 

The objectives of the CCG’s risk management strategy are to: 
 
• minimise the chances of risks developing into issues by effective risk 

identification, prioritisation, treatment and management 
• maintain a risk management process, which provides assurance to the Board 

that risks to the delivery of the strategic objectives are being managed 
effectively 

• maintain a cohesive approach to corporate governance and effectively 
manage risk management resources 

• ensure that risk management is an integral part of West Hampshire CCG’s 
culture 

 
4.3 Capacity to handle risk  

The overall responsibility for the management of risk rests with the Chief 
Operating Officer, supported collectively and individually by the Board members / 
Directors. The Audit Committee monitors and reviews the establishment and 
maintenance of an effective system of integrated governance, risk management 
and internal control across the CCG and the Corporate Risk Group is 
responsible for reviewing the operation of the risk management process on a 
monthly basis. Other standing committees of the Board, such as the Clinical 
Governance Committee support the CCG in its risk management, escalating 
information to the Audit Committee, and where necessary directly to the Board to 
provide assurance with regards to patient safety, patient experience and clinical 
effectiveness. These responsibilities are clearly set out in the Committees’ terms 
of reference. 
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Guidance on all matters relating to risk management is available to all staff from 
the risk management lead, located within the Finance directorate. 
 
All directors are fully engaged with the system to maintain and update the Board 
Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register. Risks are systematically 
identified, evaluated and controlled by each directorate within the CCG. 
Significant risks and changes are identified – with the risk management lead 
facilitating and reviewing this process. During 2019/20, West Hampshire CCG 
has provided access to a range of induction and ongoing training activities in 
relation to risk management activities. Particular emphasis has been placed on 
reviewing the recording of risk and ensuring the completion of information 
governance training by all staff, including information risk management for those 
staff who have specific responsibilities as data custodians and information asset 
owners.  

 
 Specific responsibilities and accountability  

In overview, directorate management teams identify risks which are recorded on 
the CCG’s risk management system. These risks are regularly updated by the 
risk handlers as appropriate. Risks that score 12 or above are updated at least 
every two months, for review and assurance by the Corporate Risk Group. 
These risks inform the Board Assurance Framework report which is reviewed by 
the Corporate Risk Group and presented to the Board at each public meeting. 

 
The West Hampshire CCG Board is responsible for: 
 
• setting the strategic direction of the organisation, interventions, outcomes and 

measures 
• protecting the reputation of the CCG 
• ensuring that assurances demonstrate that risk has been identified, assessed 

and all reasonable steps taken to manage it appropriately 
• providing leadership on the management of risks and  
• determining the risk appetite. 

 
The Audit Committee is responsible for: 
 
• scrutinising the application of the Board’s risk management policy and 

strategy 
• providing robust challenge to provide assurance to the Board on the 

application of the risk management policy 
• scrutinising the application of the Board’s risk appetite 
• ensuring the approach to risk management is consistently applied. 
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The Finance and Performance Committee is responsible for highlighting to the 
Audit Committee or Board any risks for review, escalation or inclusion on the 
Corporate Risk Register, as a result of its review of the CCG’s finance and 
performance, and plans to meet statutory responsibilities and constitutional 
standards. 

 
The Clinical Governance Committee is responsible for approving and monitoring 
arrangements to minimise clinical risk, maximise patient safety and to secure 
continuous improvement in quality and patient outcomes. It also highlights to the 
Audit Committee any risks for review, escalation or inclusion on the Corporate 
Risk Register, via the Board Assurance Framework. 

 
The Corporate Risk Group, which consists of the executive team who review and 
update the Corporate Risk Register, and the Board Assurance Framework 
Report before its consideration by the Board. The group fulfils this role in part by: 
 
• applying the Board’s risk appetite to the management of risks 
• assessing the current and target risk levels for particular risks 
• deciding upon the addition or removal of risks on the Corporate Risk Register 
• assigning risk managers and risk handlers as appropriate 
• identifying any gaps in the Corporate Risk Register 
• recommending actions to close identified gaps  
• developing a common approach to the risk process 
• assessing the aggregated risk to strategic objectives. 

 
Directorate management teams keep risks under regular review. Directors act as 
risk managers for their respective areas of the business. In respect to risk 
management, directorate management teams are responsible for: 
 
• ensuring that within their directorate all risk managers and handlers are 

coordinating, managing, monitoring and reviewing their risks 
• ensuring engagement with the risk process 
• notifying their director of any risks affecting the delivery of strategic objectives 

for 
• inclusion on the CCG’s risk system. 
• ensuring staff comply with the risk management policy and strategy 
• leading the management of risks by devising short, medium and long term 

strategies to tackle identified risks, including the production of any action 
plans 

• ensuring all staff fulfil their responsibility for risk management by identifying, 
reporting, monitoring and reviewing risks 

• ensuring that all activities undertaken within their directorate are consistent 
with safe operation and 
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• ensuring that appropriate directorate risk registers are produced and actively 
managed within their directorate. 

 
Internal and external auditors are responsible for agreeing (with the Audit 
Committee) a programme of audits which assess the exposures and adequacy 
of mitigation of the principal risks affecting the organisation. The priorities 
contained in the audit programme should reflect the risk evaluation set out in the 
Board Assurance Framework. The reports and advice produced by audit should 
inform the management of risk by directorates although responsibility remains 
with the relevant lead directors. 

 
The Chief Executive has responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s strategic objectives. In 
respect to risk management, the Chief Executive: 

 
• ensures that management processes fulfil the responsibilities for risk 

management as set out in the risk management policy 
• ensures that full support and commitment is provided and maintained in every 

activity relating to risk management plans for adequate staffing, finances and 
other resources, to ensure the management of those risks which may have an 
adverse impact on the staff, finances or stakeholders 

• ensures an appropriate Board Assurance Framework is prepared and 
regularly updated and receives appropriate consideration and 

• ensures that an Annual Governance Statement, adequately reflecting the risk 
management status, is prepared and signed off each year. 

 
The risk management lead (currently the Business Planning and Risk Manager) 
is responsible for: 
 
• producing the Corporate Risk Register 
• facilitating the CCG’s risk management policy and strategy 
• producing the Board Assurance Framework 
• scheduling risks on executive team agendas as appropriate and 
• reviewing the format and content of risk documents as required. 

 
All members of staff are responsible for maintaining risk awareness and 
identifying and reporting risks as appropriate to their line manager for escalation 
as appropriate. In addition, they will ensure that they familiarise themselves and 
comply with the risk management policy and attend mandatory and other 
relevant training courses. 
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4.4 Risk assessment 
The CCG has refined its Board Assurance Framework throughout the 2019/20 
financial year, so that it represents reasonable assurance for risks affecting the 
strategic objectives. 

 
The CCG has a uniform process for classifying risk, which exists across all 
produced risk registers. This is clearly set out within the CCG's corporate risk 
management strategy. The framework states that for each risk, there is a score 
which is a measurement of the likelihood of the risk materialising and its potential 
impact. The risk rating is derived from the risk matrix. 

 
The Board Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register enable the 
executive directors and Board to be reasonably assured and informed about the 
aggregated risks to the achievement of the CCG’s strategic objectives and the 
controls in place which are intended to manage these risks. The documents 
comprise: 
 
• The CCG’s strategic objectives. 
• The principal risks associated with achieving these objectives. 
• The key controls / systems in place to minimise the risks. 
• The positive assurances available to the Board in the form of internal and 

external scrutiny, assessments and reports. 
• Details of any gaps in controls and / or assurance and describes the specific 

actions designed to address these gaps. 
 

As per the WHCCG Corporate Risk Management Policy, the Board receives the 
Board Assurance Framework at each public meeting. The Corporate Risk 
Register which informs the Board Assurance Framework is reviewed by the 
Corporate Risk Group every month. The Board Assurance Framework is a high 
level, aggregated risk description of the risks that relate to the achievement of 
the CCG’s strategic objectives. It is to provide assurance to the Board in relation 
to the management of key risk areas that threaten the ability of the organisation 
to achieve these objectives. 

 
These strategic risk areas are: 
 
• Finance (financial sustainability, financial recovery plan, STP control total) 
• Quality (performance - constitutional standards, significant areas of non-

delivery) 
• Quality (patient experience) 
• Quality (provider workforce) 
• CCG workforce 
• Partnership  
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• Establish Local Delivery Systems 
• Communications and engagement 

 
The controls, mitigations and assurances are outlined in the BAF within the 
Board Papers published on our website. 

 
The West Hampshire CCG Board has a moderate risk appetite when seeking 
reward or when designing new corporate processes that drive innovation and 
positive outcomes for patients. The Board will not tolerate very high risks that 
could affect the welfare of the public and patients or the CCG’s ability to meet 
financial probity requirements.  

 
The CCG’s values include fostering an open and transparent approach to risk 
management wherever possible. Our work as clinical commissioners can only be 
successful if we develop effective working relationships with all our stakeholders, 
including neighbouring CCGs, Hampshire County Council, the Hampshire Health 
and Wellbeing Board, NHS England/Improvement, providers, our patients and 
the public. We will therefore ensure that all risk management developments and 
ideas are shared with our stakeholders to create the most effective environment 
for understanding and mitigating the risks that we face. 

 
Mindful of the CCG's obligations in respect of public involvement and 
consultation and its duties to promote integration, the CCG expressly 
acknowledges the potential importance of information received from patients, 
members of the public for whom services are being or may be provided, and 
partner health and social care organisations in the effective identification of risk. 

 
The CCG also has an accredited local counter fraud specialist (LCFS) operating 
in accordance with the NHS Counter Fraud Standards who regularly reports to 
the Chief Finance Officer and the Audit Committee against an annual plan. 
These reports may highlight recommendations for action where appropriate, as 
risks or weaknesses in control are identified. This covers details of live and 
closed investigations, as well as the dissemination of issues highlighted from 
other NHS organisations nationwide. 
 
Knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud is reported directly to the 
Audit Committee. Systems and processes are in place to ensure that 
recommendations are implemented and evidenced to be effective. A detailed 
annual report is submitted to the Audit Committee each year. 

 
Equality impact assessments are required for all new policies and strategies 
before they can be agreed. An equality section is built into all papers that go to 
the Board so that these risks can be identified and mitigated. 
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In summary, the CCG has developed an integrated approach to risk 
management, incorporating governance, risk management, and internal control. 
With the exception of the details set out in section 6, there were no risks or 
issues during 2019/20 relating specifically to governance, risk management, and 
internal control highlighted, and none have been identified post 31 March 2020. 
There were no risks to compliance with the CCG licence identified during the 
year.  

 
5. Other sources of assurance 

 
5.1 Internal Control Framework 

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in 
the CCG to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being 
realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. 

 
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level 
rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness. 

 
Each year, we review our strategic objectives and the risks to delivering these 
objectives are detailed in our Board Assurance Framework (BAF), which follows 
Government guidance. The BAF also provides evidence to support our Annual 
Governance Statement. This framework provides us with a simple yet 
comprehensive method to manage effectively the principal risks in delivering our 
objectives. It is a high level document, which sets out the risk for each objective, 
the controls in place and assurances available on their operation. 
 
As set out in section 4 above, this framework is reviewed continually and 
adjusted to reflect any new circumstances, risks and initiatives. The objectives 
are then reviewed to reflect lessons learned from the past, current risks and 
future potential threats. The BAF assures the Board and external stakeholders 
that risks are being managed effectively.  

 
5.2 Annual audit of conflicts of interest management  

The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs 
(published June 2016 and revised in June 2017) requires CCGs to undertake an 
annual internal audit of conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to 
undertake this task, NHS England has published a template audit framework.  
 
The CCG has carried out its annual internal audit of conflicts of interest.  The 
scope of this audit covered: 
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• Existence of up to date policies and procedures 
• Compliance with key requirements within the policy 
• Follow-up of any remaining recommendations from previous conflict of 

interest reviews 
• Completeness of registers of interest 
• Governance structures for managing conflicts of interest 
• Completion of the online training package developed by NHS England 
 
The audit concluded that substantial assurance can be provided by the CCG’s 
arrangements.  It highlighted that the CCG has sound controls for the 
management of the mandated declarations of interests. A small number of 
routine recommendations have been made to support the CCG in its continued 
development of these processes. 

 
The report was published in April 2020 and will be received by the Audit 
Committee at its next meeting. 
 

5.3 Data quality  
The CCG works hard to ensure it meets its responsibility to collate and use 
appropriately good quality data. We have a data quality policy that provides 
guidance for our staff and our contractors and sets out our principles and the 
standards we expect. Our IT provider supports and assures the CCG on the 
implementation of software countermeasures and management procedures to 
protect our vital information / assets against the effects of malicious software and 
other risks.   
 
We have identified our data owners and data processors and, through our 
information asset owners and data custodians, ensure that there are appropriate 
processes, use and quality checking of the data we use, receive and share. We 
set clear roles and responsibilities for staff in relation to data quality and ensure 
that all staff recognise those responsibilities as an integral part of their job and 
profession. We provide training and support for teams and ensure working 
procedures are fully documented and regularly updated, including all job 
descriptions that support the responsibilities within the policy.  
 
We undertake data validation to ensure that information is of good quality. These 
processes deal with data that is being added continuously and also can be used 
on historical data to improve its quality.  We undertake regular validation 
processes on data being recorded to assess its completeness, accuracy, 
relevance, accessibility and timeliness. These processes include department 
spot-checks, data correlation and validation, and internal record audits. 
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We maintain and regularly review our data / data quality framework to ensure 
that it continues to underpin data quality principles. Staff are required to abide by 
the principles contained in all related policies and procedures. This is tested 
through our ongoing information governance processes. 

 
5.4 Information governance 

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and 
procedures by which the NHS handles information about patients and 
employees, in particular personal identifiable information.  The NHS Information 
Governance Framework is supported by an information governance toolkit (now 
known as the ‘Data Security and Protection Toolkit’) and the annual submission 
process provides assurances to the CCG, other organisations and to individuals 
that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. 
 
Information governance plays a key role in supporting all areas of our work. The 
CCG recognises the importance of reliable information, in terms of the efficient 
management of the services it commissions and the resources it manages. 

 
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance 
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate 
information.  We have established an information governance management 
framework, and have developed information governance processes and 
procedures in line with the Data Security and Protection Toolkit. We have 
ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training and have 
developed a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of 
their information governance roles and responsibilities. 
 
There are policies and processes in place for incident reporting and the 
investigation of serious incidents.  We have developed information risk 
assessment and management procedures and a programme has been 
established to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the organisation 
against identified risks.  
 
Staff are encouraged to report information governance risks and incidents and 
there is a strong culture of reporting. This reflects the regular raising awareness 
of reporting incidents as well as mandatory and face to face training, all of which 
has encouraged staff to report information governance incidents. Standard 
operating procedures have been reviewed and strengthened, particularly in 
areas where there have been increased numbers of temporary staff. All reported 
information governance / data security incidents are logged on the CCG’s 
incident reporting systems.  
 
Data custodians in all teams have undertaken and returned an information 
governance compliance spot check, all of which have been signed off by the 
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respective information asset owner. Audits indicate that there is very good staff 
awareness of their information governance responsibilities, local information 
governance procedures and knowledge of key information governance staff 
within the CCG. This is further evidenced by over 95% of all staff completing 
their mandatory training. 
 
Reviews by the internal auditors have concluded that the CCG has provided 
substantial assurance to support its assessment of its levels of attainment 
against the Data Security and Protection Toolkit. 
 

5.5 Business critical models     
The CCG has considered the HM Treasury report Review of quality assurance of 
Government analytical models: final report and its implications for quality 
assurance of business critical models. We do not employ business critical 
models as implied by the report. Our work as clinical commissioners relies on 
information gathered from other organisations which provide the services that we 
commission. When we model and analyse this data, we use multiple tools and 
sources to verify and check the output, and therefore quality assurance is built 
into all the analytical work that we undertake. 
 

5.6 Third party assurances 
The CCG relies on third party providers for support services, as follows: 
 

• South, Central and West Commissioning Support Unit (SCWCSU) which 
provides a range of commissioning support services including contract 
management, payroll, financial ledger, accounts payable, accounts 
receivable, financial reporting, treasury and cash management, and 
business intelligence. 

• NHS Shared Business Services (SBS) which provides general ledger and 
financial accounting services for the NHS England group. This includes 
cash management, debt management, procure to pay, eProcurement, 
payroll and VAT services. 

 
We receive regular audit reports covering business process areas for which it 
relies on third party providers. 
 
Effective control procedures are in place; SCWCSU has developed an action 
plan to improve its internal assurance processes. There are no areas of 
exception in third party assurances related to West Hampshire CCG services. 
 
 

6. Control issues  
As described in earlier sections, the CCG has developed an integrated approach 
to risk management, incorporating governance, risk management, and internal 
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control. With the exception of the details set out below, there were no risks or 
issues during 2019/20 relating specifically to governance, risk management, and 
internal control highlighted via the Month 9 Governance Statement, and none 
have been identified post 31 March 2020. There were no risks identified during 
the year to compliance with the CCG licence.  
 
Finance, Governance and Control – Finance and Procurement 
 
For the 2019/20 financial year the West Hampshire CCG were planning to 
deliver an in year breakeven position with income of £811.262m and expenditure 
of £811.216m. This reflected the planning requirement to replicate in 2019/20 the 
small actual surplus of £0.046m that was the final position in the CCG Annual 
Accounts for 2018/19. In month nine the CCG formally moved from reporting a 
breakeven forecast outturn position to reporting a substantial forecast overspend 
of £13.6m. This was in line with previously reported net risks materialising into 
the position.   
 
As at month 11, the 2019/20 year-end forecast remains unchanged from month 
9 and the remaining risks of £2.0m associated with the delivery of the control 
total have now been mitigated to zero. The QIPP requirement remains at 
£29.6m, and the planned delivery is forecast at 65% of plan. 
 
A number of the risks to the CCG’s financial plan that were identified at planning 
stage have had an impact on the financial position for the year, primarily in 
relation to over-performance on acute contracts and achievement of the very 
challenging QIPP target.  

 
The financial recovery programme (FRP) is an embedded part of the CCG 
structure, with the aim of maintaining financial stability on a recurrent basis, and 
of identifying and delivering further savings as a sound basis for financial plans 
for 2019/20 and beyond. 

 
Quality and Performance – Accident and Emergency  
 
There is a constitutional standard for 95% of patients to be seen within four 
hours in emergency departments. None of the CCG’s main acute service 
providers have achieved the standard throughout the year. Action plans are in 
place to address issues such as delayed transfers of care, available community 
capacity, patient flows, and staffing/access to timely clinical decisions.  
Contractual recovery action plans continue to be reviewed with all four Trusts.  
 
Rapid improvement plans are in place, with actions including; pathway reviews; 
a deep dive into community and local authority capacity; Local A&E Delivery 
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Group undertaking a system-wide prospective audit; demand and capacity 
analysis; monthly contract review meeting review, and winter resilience planning. 
 
University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust (UHSFT) did not 
achieve six of the nine standards as of February 2020, with further slippage seen 
against the 31 day treatment (surgery) and 62 day referral to treatment 
standards.  The Trust was originally expected to recover performance by 
December 2019, however due to continuing pressures, UHSFT did not achieve 
this. The Trust has been working with NHS England / Improvement and the 
Wessex Cancer Alliance to agree new action plans. A revised Remedial Action 
Plan was issued, and draft operating plans submitted in March 2020 showed 
recovery of the 94% and 85% standards respectively by December 2020. Given 
the current Covid-19 crisis, the operating plan process has been temporarily 
suspended, and the revised trajectories supplied by UHSFT have not been 
endorsed by CCGs.  

 
The Board has received briefing presentations at its meetings throughout the 
year regarding actions being taken under the auspices of the South West and 
North and Mid Hampshire A&E Delivery Boards.  Provider specific Sustainability 
and Transformation Fund (STF) recovery trajectories are also in place with NHS 
Improvement, the regulator for provider organisations.  

 
Quality and Performance – waiting lists for Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services (CAMHS) 
The CAMHS service for patients in West Hampshire is not achieving any of the 
five waiting time standards (including assessment times and referral to treatment 
times. This is consistent with performance across all of the five Hampshire 
CCGs.  
 
The West Hampshire CCG Board approved an investment plan in July 2019, 
which was also approved by the Hampshire CCG Partnership Board in October 
2019. Contract variations in relation to the additional funding for core CAMHS 
services were agreed for 2019/20 with work undertaken to provide clarity of core 
CAMHS spending and investment plans with Sussex Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust (SPFT) for 2020/21 and beyond. Financial planning was also 
undertaken for 2020/21 spending plans for all emotional health and wellbeing 
services. 
 
A Children and Young People Performance Assurance group has been 
implemented to oversee and assure on delivery. In addition a wider strategic 
CAMHS Transformation Board focusing on development of alternative treatment 
solutions has been established, with its first meeting having taken place on 5 
February 2020. 
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Active recruitment to all CAMHS teams started in early January 2020. Winter 
pressures monies was also deployed to support young people in crises attending 
Emergency Departments. 
 
As a result of survey undertaken to better understand referral patterns, work is 
ongoing in localities to improve referral processes and increase knowledge of 
local sources of support available. A second round of bids has also been 
submitted for Mental Health Support Teams in schools in the New Forest and 
Winchester and Eastleigh localities. 
 
Additional mitigating actions being undertaken include a review of the waiting list 
for Winchester and Test Valley and contact with families where the highest risk 
was perceived; an external peer review to validate the clinical model; a 
workforce implementation plan is in place; referrals are triaged, monthly review 
of high risk patients, regular contact with long waiters and Looked After Children 
and Youth Offending Team prioritisation. Risk review of the waiting list is now 
standard, 

 
In summary, for the issues outlined above: 
 
• The Board and its Committees received regular briefings and assurance 

updates, and internal and external auditors are aware of the mitigating 
actions taken 

• Delivery of the standards expected of the Accountable Officer have not been 
at risk and regular assurance discussions have been held with NHS England, 
including other commissioners and providers in the respective care system 

• It has not made it harder to resist fraud or other misuse of resources 
• It is not expected to have a material impact on the accounts 
• National security of data integrity has not been put at risk. 

 
 
7. Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources  

As Accountable Officer, I have overseen the key processes to ensure that 
resources are used economically, efficiently and effectively, with the aim of 
delivering our strategic objectives as a CCG within our funding allocation. Our 
processes to ensure value for money in everything that we do mean that 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness are interwoven with our governance 
framework and internal controls. 
 
The key processes include:  
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• Monthly reviews of activity and finance culminating in reports to the Board, 
which have been reviewed by the Finance and Performance Committee. 
Regular reports are also provided to the Audit Committee 

• The establishment of a financial recovery programme (with fortnightly 
meetings led by the Chief Finance Officer) to ensure financial delivery in 
2019/20 and financial stability into 2020/21 and future years, in response to 
emerging financial pressures and known changes in funding  

• We have developed a stronger approach to monitoring delivery of QIPP in 
2019/20. This has included: 

o Monthly meetings with the Commissioning Directors and Directorates 
to review  
 Delivery of savings against projected year end position   
 Status of project milestones and agreement of any mitigating 

actions 
 Escalation of any issues and risks 

o Monthly board report to review financial performance and the delivery 
of milestones  

o This approach is planned to be strengthened and enhanced in 
2020/21 as the Health economy moves towards an Integrated Care 
Partnership approach. This will enable and ensure that any service 
changes are mutually beneficial for both patients and all System 
partners. 

• Detailed reports from internal auditors, external auditors and the local counter 
fraud service to the Audit Committee, which are reported to the Board via 
minutes and exception reporting 

• Robust approval processes for business cases for new investment or dis-
investment 

• A project management approach to delivering and monitoring our quality, 
innovation, prevention and productivity (QIPP) programme, supported by a 
programme management office 

• Review of benchmarking data to ensure all opportunities for efficiency are 
considered when compared to similar CCGs (such as RightCare, and other 
national benchmarking tools e.g. Atlas of Variation) 

• Regular monitoring through the NHS England assurance process, which 
includes financial measures as part of quarterly assessments, and other 
financial measures required by NHS England 

• Regular assurance meetings for local delivery systems led by the NHS 
England, NHS Improvement and the STP. The local delivery system 
assurance meetings focus on delivery of system targets and collaborative 
working for the benefit of the local population 

• The self-assessment of the Quality of Leadership indicator of the CCG 
Improvement and Assessment Framework 2018/19, which was rated ‘Green’ 
by the CCG when submitted in February 2019. Confirmation of this rating is 
awaited. 
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• The CCG has a strong budgetary control system which ensures that central 
management costs, also known as running costs, are within the financial 
envelope set by NHS England for the CCG. All recruitment requests are 
formally approved and recorded at executive team meetings to ensure 
oversight of staffing costs which make up the majority of the CCG’s 
management costs 

• The CCG has strong efficiency controls built into its day-to-day governance 
processes with clear delegated limits for expenditure set out in its standing 
financial instructions. The CCG’s clear focus on financial recovery 
strengthens its efficiency controls as all staff are asked to consider financial 
efficiency in all decision making. The project management office approach to 
savings and financial efficiency means that there is an ongoing process for 
reviewing expenditure and opportunities for greater financial efficiency which 
are then monitored as QIPP savings. 

 
Delegation of functions 
West Hampshire CCG works in partnership with other CCGs to commission 
health and social care collaboratively; to commission services at the appropriate 
tier to achieve the best possible outcomes for patients. This includes: 
 
• Mental  Health and Learning Disabilities – West Hampshire CCG (WHCCG) 

lead on collaborative commissioning for mental health and learning disabilities 
on behalf of the five Hampshire CCGs, and also leads on the Transforming 
Care Partnership (Learning Disabilities) for the whole of Hampshire and the 
Isle of Wight 

• Children and maternity – West Hampshire is part of the commissioning 
collaborative for Children’s services which is led by North East Hampshire and 
Farnham CCG 

• Continuing Healthcare – West Hampshire CCG leads the continuing 
healthcare commissioning collaborative for the five Hampshire CCGs 

• Safeguarding & Looked after Children – West Hampshire CCG leads on 
Safeguarding and Looked after Children arrangements for the five Hampshire 
CCGs 

• Safeguarding Adults – West Hampshire CCG leads on Safeguarding Adults 
arrangements on behalf of West Hampshire CCG, North Hampshire CCG and 
North East Hampshire and Farnham CCG 

• Medicines Management – The CCG’s Head of Medicines Optimisation is 
leading work within the Hampshire and Isle of Wight sustainability and 
transformation plan to develop and share best practice in medicines 
management across our region. 

 
Through the range of assurance mechanisms outlined in this Annual 
Governance Statement, including the work of the Board, the Finance and 
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Performance Committee, the Clinical Governance Committee, the Clinical 
Cabinet and the Audit Committee/internal audit as well as the joint governance 
arrangements in place, a thorough assessment of feedback from delegation 
chains has been undertaken to ensure that resources are used economically, 
efficiently and effectively. 

 
Counter fraud arrangements 
The CCG’s arrangements in relation to the risks of fraud are primarily through 
the active and comprehensive counter fraud service employed by the CCG. 
There is a statutory requirement for each health body to have clear counter fraud 
arrangements and access to appropriate accredited counter fraud support. The 
Hampshire and Isle of Wight Fraud and Security Management Service provide 
the CCG with:  
 
• A nominated professional accredited Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS), 

with additional support from the team as required 
• Access to the team as a nationally recognised centre of expertise that 

understands the requirements of CCGs and providers having delivered the 
counter fraud service in Hampshire since 2003 

• A complete counter fraud service locally implementing the NHS Counter 
Fraud Authority anti-fraud strategy in the four key areas of; ‘strategic 
governance’, ‘inform and involve’, ‘prevent and deter’ and ‘hold to account’. 
 

West Hampshire CCG’s counter fraud work plan for 2019/20 was developed by 
the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Fraud and Security Management Service in 
conjunction with the Chief Finance Officer (who is the executive Board member 
responsible for tackling fraud, bribery and corruption), and approved by the Audit 
Committee prior to the start of the financial year. This plan identifies work to be 
undertaken to address identified risks as well as clear outcomes in each of the 
four strategic areas.  
 
The LCFS reports on an exception basis to meetings of the Audit Committee, 
highlighting recommendations for action where appropriate, as risks or 
weaknesses in control are identified. Where appropriate this covers details of live 
and closed investigations as well as the dissemination of issues highlighted from 
other NHS organisations nationwide. Knowledge of any actual, suspected or 
alleged frauds is reported directly to the Committee. Systems and processes are 
in place to ensure that recommendations are implemented and evidenced to be 
effective.  A detailed annual report is prepared for the Audit Committee each 
year, including a report against each of the Standards for Commissioners. 
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8. Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the 
CCG, the head of internal audit issued an independent and objective opinion on 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, 
governance and internal control. The head of internal audit concluded that: 
 
Reasonable assurance can be given that there is a generally sound system of 
internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls 
are generally being applied consistently.  
 
During the year, Internal Audit (TIAA) issued the following audit reports: 
 
Area of Audit Level of Assurance Given 

QIPP Delivery – Ongoing quarterly 
assurance - Phases 1 and 2 

Reasonable Assurance 

Safeguarding Arrangements – 
focusing on Safeguarding Children 

Reasonable Assurance 

HR Workforce Review Reasonable Assurance 

Contract Management – NHS and 
Non-NHS Providers 

Substantial Assurance 

Business Continuity / Emergency 
Preparedness Resilience and 
Response (EPRR) – Joint Review 

Reasonable Assurance 

Financial Accounting Systems – 
including Budgetary Control 

Substantial Assurance 

Data Security Protection Toolkit Substantial Assurance 

Assurance Framework and Risk 
Management 

Reasonable Assurance 

Primary Care Commissioning – NHS 
England Internal Audit Framework 

Reasonable Assurance 

NHS England Mandated Conflicts of 
Interest Management 

Substantial Assurance 

Primary Care Commissioning – NHS 
England Internal Audit Framework 

Reasonable Assurance (draft 
report) 

NHS Data Security and Protection 
Toolkit – 2019/20 

Substantial Assurance (draft 
report) 

Continuing Health Care Spot Checks 
– review of care home provider 

Assurance level not provided as 
this was an operational review 
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Continuing Healthcare Review – 
Thematic Review 

Assurance level not provided as 
this was an operational review 

Review of Reported Performance 
Information against supporting data 

Assurance level not provided as 
this was an operational review 

 
 

9. Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal 
control 
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads 
within the CCG who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of 
the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information 
available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external 
auditors in their annual audit letter and other reports.   
 
The Board Assurance Framework provides me with evidence that the 
effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principal 
strategic objectives have been reviewed. 
 
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Board, the Audit 
Committee, Finance and Performance Committee and Clinical Governance 
Committee and the Primary Care Commissioning Committee (which functions as 
a corporate decision making body for the management of the delegated 
functions and the exercise of delegated powers) and a plan to address 
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place. 

 
My review is also informed by: 
 
• Monthly activity and finance reports to the Board, which have been reviewed 

by the Finance and Performance Committee 
• Fortnightly reviews of the financial recovery programme, which reports on 

progress to ensure financial delivery in 2019/20 and financial stability into 
2020/21 and future years, in response to emerging financial pressures and 
known changes in funding 

• Monthly board reports reviewing financial performance and delivery of QIPP 
milestones 

• Bi-monthly reviews of quality and safety reports and scorecards, which have 
been reviewed in further detail by the Clinical Governance Committee 

• Detailed reports to the Primary Care Commissioning Committee on key 
strategic and operational management issues, financial and performance 
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management, quality and identification and management of risks within 
primary care. 

• Detailed reports from internal auditors, external auditors and the local counter 
fraud service to the Audit Committee, which are reported to the Board via 
minutes and exception reporting 

• Bi-monthly updates to the Board on the key strategic and operational issues 
being managed by the CCG commissioning directorates, including its clinical 
directors, jointly with Clinical Cabinet 

• Updates on progress against the Board Assurance Framework and 
associated action plans following respective reviews by the Risk Review 
Group, Audit Committee and Board 

• The formal CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework, which is 
operated quarterly through NHS England (Wessex).  This is structured 
around four domains (better health; better care; sustainability; and 
leadership), and six clinical priorities (mental health; dementia; learning 
disabilities; cancer; diabetes; and maternity) 

• Assurance meetings for local delivery systems led by the NHS England, NHS 
Improvement and the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership. The 
local delivery system assurance meetings focus on delivery of system targets 
and collaborative working for the benefit of the local population 

• Regular one-to-one meetings with all Board members, including a year-end 
appraisal of performance. Moreover, I exercise internal management controls 
through regular executive team and senior management team meetings and 
attendance at various committees  

 
 
10. Conclusion 

There have been no new significant internal control issues identified and I 
believe this Annual Governance Statement is a balanced reflection of the risks 
and controls operating within the CCG during 2019/20. 
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APPENDIX A:  
Membership of the CCG’s Board and committees (by body / committee) 
 
Board members 2019/20 
Dr Charlie Besley, Locality Clinical Director, Totton and Waterside  

Ruth Colburn-Jackson, Managing Director, North and Mid Hampshire (from 20 
January 2020 – combined post with North Hampshire CCG)* 

Mike Fulford, Chief Finance Officer, and Deputy Chief Officer (until end of July 2019) 
and Chief Operating Officer (from August 2019) 

Simon Garlick, Lay Member, Governance  

Judith Gillow, Lay Member, Quality and Patient and Public Involvement 

Karl Graham, Locality Clinical Director, Eastleigh Southern Parishes 

Heather Hauschild, Chief Officer (until end of July 2019) 

Dr Adrian Higgins, Medical Director  

Dr Rory Honney, Locality Clinical Director, Andover  

Professor Johnny Lyon-Maris, Locality Clinical Director, West New Forest 

Lorne McEwan, Locality Clinical Director, Winchester and Rural  

Maggie MacIsaac, Chief Executive (Accountable Officer) (from August 2019) 

Ellen McNicholas, Director of Quality and Nursing (Board Nurse) 

Alison Rogers, Lay Member, Strategy and Finance  

Dr Sarah Schofield, Clinical Chairman (Chairman of the CCG Board) 

James Smallwood, Secondary Care Consultant  

Caroline Ward, Lay Member, New Technologies  

Dr Stuart Ward, Locality Clinical Director, Eastleigh North and Test Valley South 

Jenny Erwin, Director of Commissioning, Mid Hampshire (until 19 January 2020) and 
Director of Mental Health Transformation and Delivery (from 20 January 2020)* 

Rachael King, Director of Commissioning, South West*  

Heather Mitchell, Director of Strategy and Service Development (until July 2019)*  

* Non-voting member, in attendance 
 

Audit Committee members 2019/20 
Simon Garlick, Lay Member, Governance (Chair of the Committee) 
Judith Gillow, Lay Member, Quality and Patient and Public Involvement 
Alison Rogers, Lay Member, Strategy and Finance 
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Caroline Ward, Lay Member, New Technologies  
The CCG Accountable Officer, Chief Operating Officer / Chief Finance Officer and 
other managers are invited and/or in attendance at meetings of the Committee as 
well as representatives of the internal and external audit service providers, and the 
local counter fraud specialist. 
 

Remuneration Committee members 2019/20 
Simon Garlick, Lay Member, Governance  
Judith Gillow, Lay Member, Quality and Patient and Public Involvement 
Professor Johnny Lyon-Maris, Locality Clinical Director, West New Forest 
Alison Rogers, Lay Member, Strategy and Finance 
Dr Sarah Schofield, Clinical Chairman 
Caroline Ward, Lay Member, New Technologies (Chair of the Committee) 
The CCG Accountable Officer and other executive directors may be invited to attend 
meetings of the Committee but must withdraw for any issue that relates to them 
personally. No Committee member is present for discussions about their own 
remuneration or terms of service. 
 
Clinical Cabinet members 2019/20 
Dr Liz Angier, Clinical Director, Primary and Community Care Services  
Dr Charlie Besley, Locality Clinical Director, Totton and Waterside  
Simon Bryant, Consultant in Public Health (until July 2019)*  
Ruth Colburn-Jackson, Managing Director, North and Mid Hampshire (from 20 
January 2020 – combined post with North Hampshire CCG)* 

Helen Cruickshank, Consultant in Public Heath (from July 2019)* 
Jenny Erwin, Director of Commissioning, Mid Hampshire (until 20 January 2020) / 
Director of Mental Health Transformation and Delivery (from 21 January 2020) 
Mike Fulford, Chief Finance Officer, and Deputy Chief Officer (until end of July 2019) 
and Chief Operating Officer (from August 2019) 

Dr Karl Graham, Clinical Director, IT and Locality Clinical Director, Eastleigh 
Southern Parishes 
Dr Emma Harris, Clinical Director, Medicines Management  
Heather Hauschild, Chief Officer (until end of July 2019) 
Dr Adrian Higgins, Medical Director (Chair of the Clinical Cabinet) 
Dr Rory Honney, Locality Clinical Director, Andover  
Rachael King, Director of Commissioning, South West  
Professor Johnny Lyon-Maris, Locality Clinical Director, West New Forest  
Dr Lorne McEwan, Locality Clinical Director, Winchester  
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Ellen McNicholas, Director of Quality and Nursing (Board Nurse) 
Beverley Meeson, Deputy Director, Service Development * 
Heather Mitchell, Director of Strategy and Service Development (until July 2019) 
Dr Sarah Schofield, Clinical Chairman 
Dr Stuart Ward, Locality Clinical Director, Eastleigh North and Test Valley South  
Dr Katrina Webster, Clinical Director, Mental Health 
* Non-voting member, in attendance 
 
Clinical Governance Committee members 2019/20 
Dr Charlie Besley, Locality Clinical Director, Totton and Waterside  
Ruth Colburn-Jackson, Managing Director, North and Mid Hampshire (from 20 
January 2020 – combined post with North Hampshire CCG)* 

Jenny Erwin, Director of Commissioning, Mid Hampshire (until 20 January 2020) / 
Director of Mental Health Transformation and Delivery (from 21 January 2020) 
Mike Fulford, Chief Finance Officer, and Chief Operating Officer (from August 2019) 

Simon Garlick, Lay Member, Governance  
Judith Gillow, Lay Member, Quality and Patient and Public Involvement (Chair 
of the Committee)  
Dr Karl Graham, Clinical Director, IT and Locality Clinical Director, Eastleigh 
Southern Parishes 
Heather Hauschild, Chief Officer (until end of July 2019) 
Dr Adrian Higgins, Medical Director  
Dr Rory Honney, Locality Clinical Director, Andover  
Rachael King, Director of Commissioning, South West 
Ellen McNicholas, Director of Quality and Nursing (Board Nurse) 
Heather Mitchell, Director of Strategy and Service Development (until July 2019) 
Matthew Richardson, Deputy Director of Quality  
Dr Sarah Schofield, Clinical Chairman 
Caroline Ward, Lay Member, New Technologies 
Dr Stuart Ward, Locality Clinical Director, Eastleigh North and Test Valley South  
John Carr, Patient Representative* 
* Non-voting member, in attendance 
 
Finance and Performance Committee members 2019/20 
Dr Charlie Besley, Locality Clinical Director, Totton and Waterside  
Ruth Colburn-Jackson, Managing Director, North and Mid Hampshire (from 20 
January 2020 – combined post with North Hampshire CCG)* 
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Jenny Erwin, Director of Commissioning, Mid Hampshire (until 20 January 2020) / 
Director of Mental Health Transformation and Delivery (from 21 January 2020) 
Mike Fulford, Chief Finance Officer, and Deputy Chief Officer (until end of July 2019) 
and Chief Operating Officer (from August 2019) 

Simon Garlick, Lay Member, Governance  
Judith Gillow, Lay Member, Quality and Patient and Public Involvement 
Karl Graham, Locality Clinical Director, Eastleigh Southern Parishes 
Heather Hauschild, Chief Officer (until end July 2019) 
Dr Adrian Higgins, Medical Director  
Dr Rory Honney, Locality Clinical Director, Andover  
Rachael King, Director of Commissioning, South West* 
Professor Johnny Lyon-Maris, Locality Clinical Director, West New Forest 
Maggie MacIsaac, Chief Executive (Accountable Officer) 
Lorne McEwan, Locality Clinical Director, Winchester and Rural  
Ellen McNicholas, Director of Quality and Nursing (Board Nurse) 
Heather Mitchell, Director of Strategy and Service Development (until July 2019) 
Alison Rogers, Lay Member, Strategy and Finance (Chair of the Committee) 
Dr Sarah Schofield, Clinical Chairman 
James Smallwood, Secondary Care Consultant  
Caroline Ward, Lay Member, New Technologies  
Dr Stuart Ward, Locality Clinical Director, Eastleigh North and Test Valley South 
 
 Primary Care Commissioning Committee members 2019/20 
Dr Liz Angier, Clinical Director, Primary and Community Care Services 
Ruth Colburn-Jackson, Managing Director, North and Mid Hampshire (from 20 
January 2020 – combined post with North Hampshire CCG)* 

Jenny Erwin, Director of Commissioning, Mid Hampshire (until 20 January 2020) / 
Director of Mental Health Transformation and Delivery (from 21 January 2020) 
Mike Fulford, Chief Finance Officer, and Deputy Chief Officer (until end of July 2019) 
and Chief Operating Officer (from August 2019) 

Simon Garlick, Lay Member, Governance  
Judith Gillow, Lay Member, Quality and Patient and Public Involvement 
Heather Hauschild, Chief Officer (until end July 2019) 
Dr Adrian Higgins, Medical Director  
Rachael King, Director of Commissioning, South West  
Maggie MacIsaac, Chief Executive (Accountable Officer) 
Ellen McNicholas, Director of Quality and Nursing (Board Nurse) 
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Heather Mitchell, Director of Strategy and Service Development (until July 2019) 
Alison Rogers, Lay Member, Strategy and Finance 
James Smallwood, Secondary Care Consultant  
Caroline Ward, Lay Member, New Technologies (Chair of the Committee)  
Matthew Richardson, Deputy Director of Quality* 
Dr Sarah Schofield, Clinical Chairman* 
* Non-voting member, in attendance 
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A-Z membership of the West Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group Board and Committees 2019/20, incorporating 
attendance records and declared conflicts of interests (* denotes non-voting member, in attendance) 
Name Title  Board / Committee membership:   Attendance record 

(actual/possible) 
Declared interests throughout the year 

Dr Liz Angier Clinical Director, Primary and 
Community Care Services  

Clinical Cabinet 
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee * 

6/9 
5/6 
 

Liz 
• Holds an honorary contract with University Hospital Southampton 

NHS Foundation Trust with the Allergy department. 
• Is a member of British Society of Allergy and Immunology 
• Is a GP with an extended role (GPwER) (allergy) 
• Is a senior research fellow at the primary care department, 

Aldermoor 
• Is a Scientific Committee member for Anaphylaxis Campaign  
• Received a grant for Allergy research with Solent NHS Trust 

(2019) 
• Is Chair of Allied Health and Primary Care Group 
• Has undertaken locum work at St Clements and there is further 

potential for locum sessions to be undertaken within the WHCCG 
patch. 

Last noted: March 2020 

Dr Charles Besley Locality Clinical Director, Totton and 
Waterside  

Board 
Clinical Cabinet 
Clinical Governance Committee 
Finance and Performance 
Committee 

8/9 
7/9 
4/4 
7/9 

Charles is a partner in the Red and Green Practice, Waterside Health 
Centre, Hythe. 
Charles is an Associate Specialist at Oakhaven Hospice, Lower 
Pennington Lane, Lymington (part time contract) 

Last updated: March 2020 

Simon Bryant Associate Director, Public Health, 
Hampshire County Council (until 
July 2019) 

Clinical Cabinet 1/4 Simon is an employee of Hampshire County Council.  
Simon gives ad-hoc lectures for the University of Southampton and 
University of Portsmouth. 
Simon is Interim Associate Director, Public Health, for the Isle of Wight. 

Last noted: March 2020 
John Carr Patient representative Clinical Governance Committee * 3/6 John is: 

• Chair: Hythe Hospital League of Friends 
• Member : Hythe and Blackfield patient participation group 
• Member: Hythe Hospital stakeholder group 
• Member: Hythe Hospital project board 

Last noted: March 2020 
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Ruth Colburn Jackson Managing Director: Mid Hampshire 
(from January 2020) 

Board * 
Clinical Cabinet 
Clinical Governance Committee 
Finance and Performance 
Committee 
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee 

1/2 
0/1 
0/1 
0/3 
 
0/1 

Ruth has no interests to declare. 
Last noted: March 2020 

Helen Cruickshank Public Health Consultant, Hampshire 
County Council 

Clinical Cabinet (from July 2019)*  
 

4/6 
 

Helen has no interests to declare. 
Last noted: March 2020 

Jenny Erwin Director of Commissioning, Mid 
Hampshire (until 19 January 2020) 
Director of Mental Health 
Transformation and delivery (from 
20 January 2020) 

Board * 
Clinical Cabinet 
Clinical Governance Committee 
Finance and Performance 
Committee 
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee 

8/9 
4/9 
5/6 
6/9 
 
3/6 

Jenny has no interests to declare. 
Last noted: March 2020 

Dr Roland Fowler Clinical Director, Children and 
Families 

Clinical Cabinet 
 

8/9 
 

Roland is a Partner at North Baddesley Surgery. 
Roland is Medical Director of Tri-Locality Care, GP Federation for 
Eastleigh North and Test Valley South. 
Roland is a Looked After Children Medical Assessor. 

Last noted: March 2020 

Mike Fulford 
 

Chief Finance Officer and Deputy 
Chief Officer (until end July 2019) 
Chief Operating Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer (from August 2019) 

Board  
Audit Committee * 
Clinical Cabinet 
Clinical Governance Committee 
Finance and Performance 
Committee  
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee 

9/9 
5/5 
6/9 
3/4 
9/9 
 
6/6 

Mike has no interests to declare. 
Last noted: March 2020 

Simon Garlick Lay Member, Governance  Board 
Audit Committee (Chair) 
Clinical Cabinet 
Clinical Governance Committee 
Finance and Performance 

8/9 
5/5 
1/1 
6/6 
9/9 

Simon undertakes voluntary work at Salisbury Hospice, and assists with 
washing up and serving meals to patients. 

Last noted: March 2020 
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Committee 
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee  
Remuneration Committee  

                                                                                   
5/6 
 
2/4 

Judith Gillow Lay Member, Quality and Patient 
and Public Involvement 

Board  
Audit Committee  
Clinical Cabinet 
Clinical Governance Committee 
Finance and Performance 
Committee 
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee  
Remuneration Committee  

8/9 
3/5 
1/1 
5/6 
8/9 
 
6/6 
 
2/4 

Judith is Trustee on the Board of the Enham Trust 
Judith is Senior Nurse Advisor, Health Education England: Wessex and 
National 
Judith is Specialist Advisor, Care Quality Commission 
Judith is Non-Executive Director for Dorset County Hospital. 

Last noted: March 2020 

Dr Karl Graham 
 

Locality Clinical Director, Eastleigh 
Southern Parishes, and Clinical 
Director, IT 
 

Board 
Clinical Cabinet 
Clinical Governance Committee 
Finance and Performance 
Committee 

8/9 
6/9 
5/5 
7/9 

Karl is a GP Partner at Hedge End Medical Centre.  
Hedge End Medical Centre is a part-owner of Eastleigh Southern 
Parishes Network Limited 
Hedge End Medical Centre is a member practice of Eastleigh Southern 
Parishes Primary Care Network. 

Last noted: March 2020 

Emma Harris Clinical Director, Medicines 
Management  

Clinical Cabinet 8/9 Emma is a GP at West Meon Surgery, West Meon Surgery is a member 
practice of Mid Hampshire Healthcare Limited and a member practice of 
Rural East Primary Care Network. 
Emma’s husband is a consultant urologist at University Hospital 
Southampton NHS Foundation Trust, and with private sector provider 
South Coast Urology. 

Last noted: March 2020 

Heather Hauschild 
 

Chief Officer (until end of July 2019) Board 
Clinical Cabinet 
Clinical Governance Committee 
Finance and Performance 
Committee  
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee 

4/4 
3/4 
2/2 
1/1 
 
2/2 

Heather’s husband works for Ascribe, a company that designs software 
for use in hospitals. 
Heather is a member of LIFE, a Roman Catholic charity providing pro-life 
advocacy and education work with nationwide services with positive 
alternatives to abortion 
Heather is a volunteer for Southampton Community Café which support 
homeless and vulnerable people in Southampton. 

Last noted: March 2020 

Dr Adrian Higgins Medical Director  Board  7/9 Adrian is married to Michaela Dyer, Deputy Director of Performance and 
Delivery at West Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group. 
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 Clinical Cabinet  
Clinical Governance Committee 
Finance and Performance 
Committee 
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee 

8/9 
4/6 
8/9 
 
5/6 

Adrian is a member of the Wessex Clinical Senate 
Adrian is undertaking locum clinical sessions at Southbourne Surgery 
and Fordingbridge Surgery 

Last noted: March 2020 

Dr Rory Honney Locality Clinical Director, Andover  Board  
Clinical Cabinet 
Clinical Governance Committee 
Finance and Performance 
Committee 

7/9 
8/9 
1/1 
6/9 

Rory is a GP Partner at St Mary’s Surgery, Andover. St Mary’s Surgery 
is a share holding practice in Mid Hampshire Healthcare 
Rory is Public Health Registrar (Wessex) and is paid as a junior doctor 
by Hampshire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.  In the role as public 
health registrar Rory is now rotating back into Hampshire County Council 
Public Health team one day a week working primarily on a project 
around cholesterol and statin prescribing.  Rory remains based at the 
University of Southampton Academic Unit. 
Rory is Public Health Lead (a voluntary role) for Wessex Healthier 
Together. 
Rory has as a visiting fellowship at Southampton University. 
Rory is a Trustee of INGO Health Poverty Action. 
Rory is a member of a Cholesterol Steering Group, which includes 
membership from Hampshire County Council and Public Health England. 

Last noted: March 2020 

Rachael King 
 

Director of Commissioning, South 
West 

Board *  
Clinical Cabinet  
Clinical Governance Committee 
Finance and Performance 
Committee 
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee  

9/9 
7/9 
3/6 
9/9 
 
6/6 

Rachael is a Governor at Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust. 
Last noted: March 2020 

Prof Johnny Lyon-
Maris 

Locality Clinical Director, West New 
Forest  

Board  
Clinical Cabinet 
Clinical Governance Committee 
Finance and Performance 
Committee 
Remuneration Committee 

7/9 
7/9 
3/3 
6/9 
 
3/4 

Johnny is a GP retention doctor at Lyndhurst Surgery 
Johnny is an Associate GP, Dean Health Education Wessex. 
Johnny is a civilian consultant advisor in general practice to the Royal 
Navy. 
Johnny is an International Development Advisor to Kosovo. This is a 
Royal College of General Practitioners appointment. 
Johnny is a Care Quality Commission Specialist Advisor. 
Johnny is an NHS England complaints assessor and member of a 
Professional Advisory Group. 

Last noted: March 2020 
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Maggie MacIsaac Chief Executive (Accountable 
Officer) (from August 2019) 

Board 
Finance and Performance 
Committee 
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee 

1/5 
1/8 
 
1/4 

Michael Nightingale is Maggie’s sister in law’s father and he sits on the 
Patient and Public Engagement Group in Whitchurch. 

Last noted: March 2020 

Dr Lorne McEwan Locality Clinical Director, Winchester 
and Rural  

Board  
Clinical Cabinet 
Finance and Performance 
Committee 
 

9/9 
7/9 
7/9 

Lorne is GP Partner, Gratton Surgery, Sutton Scotney. 
Last noted: March 2020 

Ellen McNicholas Director of Quality and Nursing Board 
Clinical Cabinet  
Clinical Governance Committee 
Finance and Performance 
Committee  
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee  
 

8/9 
4/9 
6/6 
9/9 
 
5/6 

Ellen is a Governor at University Hospital Southampton Foundation Trust  
Last noted: March 2020 

Heather Mitchell Director of Strategy and Service 
Development (until 19 July 2019) 

Board *  
Clinical Cabinet  
Clinical Governance Committee 
Finance and Performance 
Committee 
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee 
 

4/4 
2/4 
1/2 
1/1 
 
2/2 

Heather has no interests to declare. 
Last noted: March 2020 

Matthew Richardson Deputy Director of Quality  Clinical Governance Committee  
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee 

6/6 
4/5 

Matthew is Director of Malmesbury Infection Solutions Ltd, which 
provides infection control consultancy to public, private and charitable 
organisations.  The company does not contract with NHS West 
Hampshire CCG, providers or any GPs in the West Hampshire area. 
Matthew is the Lay Member for quality, governance and safety for 
Pregnancy Advice Salisbury, a pro-life charity based in Wiltshire 
providing advice services around unexpected pregnancy including 
positive alternatives to abortion. 

Last noted: March 2020 
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Alison Rogers Lay Member, Strategy and Finance  Board 
Audit Committee 
Finance and Performance 
Committee 
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee  
Remuneration Committee  

7/9 
3/5 
9/9 
 
5/6 
 
2/4 

Alison has no interests to declare. 
Last noted: March 2020 

Dr Sarah Schofield Clinical Chairman Board (Chairman) 
Clinical Cabinet  
Clinical Governance Committee 
Finance and Performance 
Committee  
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee*  
Remuneration Committee 

8/9 
4/9 
6/6 
9/9 
 
5/6 
 
4/4 

Sarah is an Associate GP at St Francis / Park Surgery in Chandlers Ford 
Sarah is a Fellow and Associate of Faculty of Medical Leadership and 
Management, and a member of the Faculty’s Standards Certification and 
Awards Committee. 
Sarah is a Director at Wessex Academic Health Science Network. 
Sarah is a member of Hampshire 2020 Board. 

Last noted: March 2020 

Jim Smallwood Secondary Care Consultant  Board 
Finance and Performance 
Committee 
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee 

7/9 
7/9 
 
5/6 

Jim has no interests to declare. 
Last noted: March 2020 

Caroline Ward Lay Member, New Technologies  Board  
Audit Committee 
Clinical Cabinet 
Clinical Governance Committee 
Finance and Performance 
Committee 
Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee  
Remuneration Committee 

8/9 
5/5 
3/3 
4/6 
8/9 
 
6/6 
 
3/4 

Caroline has no interests to declare. 
Last noted: March 2020 

Dr Stuart Ward Locality Clinical Director, Eastleigh 
North and Test Valley South  

Board  
Clinical Cabinet 
Clinical Governance Committee 
Finance and Performance 
Committee 
 

6/9 
7/9 
6/6 
3/5 
 

Stuart is Senior Partner at Fryern Surgery, Chandlers Ford. 
Stuart’s Wife, Dr Jane Parfitt is Associate Medical Director at Hampshire 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust – this is a pastoral role to support 
consultants in the Trust. 
Stuart’s Son, Dr Alexander Ward is a Partner at Fryern Surgery, 
Chandlers Ford and is pending Cluster Lead for Chandlers Ford. 

Last noted: March 2020 
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Dr Katrina Webster 
 

Clinical Director, Mental Health and 
Learning Disabilities  

Clinical Cabinet 7/9 Katrina works as a GP with extended role in mental health for Camrose, 
Gillies and Hackwood GP Partnership (formerly Acorn Partnership) 
Katrina is Director (unpaid) for Touch Network, a community interest 
company which works to improve mental wellbeing within communities. 
Katrina's husband is a Principal Academic at Bournemouth University, 
and is Deputy Head of Department of Rehabilitation and Sports Sciences 
(physiotherapy, occupational therapy, nutrition, sports therapy and sports 
science).  

Last noted: March 2020 

 

 

  



Accountability Report 

106 

14. Remuneration and Staff Report 
14.1 Definition of Senior Managers 

The definition of ‘senior managers’ within the Department for Health Group 
Manual for Accounts is: 

 
Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing 
or controlling the major activities of the group body. This means those who 
influence the decisions of the entity as a whole rather than the decisions of 
individual directorates or departments. 
 
I confirm that for this Remuneration Report ‘senior managers’ constitute both 
voting and non-voting members of the CCG Board (governing body). 
 

14.2 Remuneration Committee  
It is required by statute for a CCG’s Governing Body to have a Remuneration 
Committee which 
 
• reviews and recommends to the Board pay arrangements for employees of 

the CCG  
• reviews and recommends to the Board and approves remuneration for Board 

members – including the accountable officer, chief finance officer / chief 
operating officer, executive (including clinical) directors and lay members 

• considers national guidance and requirements in relation to pay and 
remuneration.  

 
The Committee has also been established to: 
 
• scrutinise any termination payments, taking account of advice and guidance 

as appropriate and seek advice from NHS England on any significant 
proposed termination payments 

• review and recommends to the Board alternative pension scheme 
arrangements the group might establish 

• assist the CCG Clinical Chairman to evaluate the performance of the 
Accountable Officer, and through the Accountable Officer, the Chief Operating 
Officer and other executive staff, and gain assurance on appropriate 
contractual arrangements for such staff, including assurance on succession 
planning. 
  

The Committee membership in 2019/20 comprised: 
 
• Simon Garlick, Lay Member, Governance  
• Judith Gillow, Lay Member, Quality 
• Caroline Ward, Lay Member, New Technologies (Chair of Committee) 
• Alison Rogers, Lay Member, Strategy and Finance  
• Dr Sarah Schofield, Clinical Chairman 
• Professor Johnny Lyon-Maris, Locality Clinical Director, New Forest West. 
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The Accountable Officer, Chief Finance Officer/Chief Operating Officer and other 
managers may be invited to attend meetings of the Committee but must 
withdraw for any issue that relates to them personally. No Committee member is 
present for discussions about their own specific remuneration or terms of 
service.  
 
The Committee met four times during the financial year. In March 2020, two of 
these meetings were held in common with the Remuneration Committee of 
Southampton City CCG and the Remuneration Committees in Common of the 
Hampshire and Isle of Wight Partnership of CCGs. These meetings were 
considered to be important following the appointment a single Chief Executive 
and Accountable Officer across all these CCGs from August 2019. The aim of 
these meetings in common was to ensure a consistency of approach across the 
CCGs in advance of establishing for a single commissioning organisation across 
Hampshire and the Isle of Wight. 
 
During the 2019/20 financial year meetings of the Remuneration Committee 
were held in order to conduct the following business:  
 

• Note the NHS Pay Review Body Agenda for Change (AfC) pay structure 
in place for all staff 

• Agreed to implement the recommended pay uplift award for 2019/20 to all 
Very Senior Managers (VSMs) meeting the criteria as set out in the NHS 
England/Improvement letter of 31 January 2020 (sent by Amanda 
Pritchard). It was noted that it is a blended approach given the differential 
application of cost of living payments made to date across different CCGs 
across Hampshire and the Isle of Wight.  

• Agreed to pause on the recommendation regarding the 2020/21 pay uplift 
for VSMs, pending central guidance (akin to the Amanda Pritchard letter 
of 31 January 2020). This will be reviewed again at the end of Quarter 1 
2020/21 if no guidance is received or expected to be received. 

• Recommend remuneration in relation to new senior manager 
appointments made during the year, shared by West Hampshire CCG 
with other CCGs across Hampshire and the Isle of Wight from January – 
particularly, Ruth Colburn-Jackson, Managing Director for North and Mid 
Hampshire and Jenny Erwin, Director of Mental Health Transformation 
and Delivery.  

• Recommend the proposed salary increase for Mike Fulford, Chief Finance 
Officer to reflect the additional responsibilities undertaken as part of the 
role of Chief Operating Officer for West Hampshire following the change 
in the CCG’s Accountable Officer in August 2019. 

• Support the extension of the role of Chief Operating Officer for West 
Hampshire CCG until 31 August 2020 (or earlier if a new executive 
structure is developed across the CCGs in Hampshire and Isle of Wight 
for which Maggie MacIsaac is Accountable Officer is implemented before 
this date). 

• Note the details of the current remuneration of Maggie MacIsaac, Chief 
Executive prior to her commencing the role of West Hampshire CCG’s 
Accountable Officer and, in conjunction with other CCG Remuneration 
Committees, recommend proposals for an increase in remuneration with 
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effect from 1 August 2019 in recognition of her increased responsibilities 
across Hampshire and the Isle of Wight CCGs. Proposals for a further 
increase in remuneration from 1 April 2020 were developed for 
submission to NHS England/Improvement following Maggie’s formal 
appointment as the Chief Executive of the Hampshire and Isle of Wight 
Integrated Care System. 

• Receive briefing and guidance around changes introduced by Her 
Majesty’s Revenue and Customs  

• Receive briefing and guidance around changes in employment law. 
• Receive a briefing on pension taxation and the options available to 

members of the NHS Pension Scheme affected by the annual allowance. 
• Receive the Gender Pay Gap report 2019.  
• Agree common working principles so that all future meetings of the 

Remuneration shall take place in common with with the Remuneration 
Committee of Southampton City CCG and the Remuneration Committees 
in Common of the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Partnership of CCGs. 

 
14.3 Statement of Policy 

The Committee has absolute discretion over the proposed terms, conditions and 
remuneration of the accountable officer and directors. This discretion is 
exercised through the following guiding principles: 
 
• That all decisions are made within the legally constituted powers of the CCG 
• Ensuring that all executive directors’, Board members and staff remuneration 

represents value for money 
• The need to attract, retain and motivate, high quality executive directors. 
 
The Committee makes satisfactory arrangements to ensure it receives adequate 
independent advice on remuneration arrangements elsewhere in the NHS and 
other similar organisations, as well as trends and developments in the area of 
employment benefits, and terms and conditions of employment for directors. 
 
Directors’ remuneration reviews take account of the size, scope, complexity and 
impact of the individual job, considering any appropriate market rates and/or 
special circumstances, as well as national guidance and with regard to other pay 
settlements in the NHS and the public sector. 
 
For 2019/20: 
 
• All employees of the CCG were employed on terms and conditions of 

employment in line with the Agenda for Change framework 
• Remuneration was reviewed annually for all staff and any uplifts were in 

accordance with the Agenda for Change framework 
• The remuneration levels for GP Executive/Board Members, Clinical Directors 

and Clinical Leads, remains in line with those agreed by the CCG in the 
previous year 

• Remuneration for the Chief Executive / Accountable Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer / Chief Operating Officer was agreed and remains in line with 
guidance published by NHS England. Proposed increases took into 
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consideration a range of factors including role complexity, joint management 
arrangements across multiple statutory organisations and long term 
recruitment and retention premiums 

• In recognition that there is not a Very Senior Manager (VSM) scale within 
national CCG remuneration guidance, there remains a spot salary 
commensurate with the top of Band 9 Agenda for Change for Executive 
Directors. Consideration was also taken into account of a benchmarking pay 
review commissioned in Summer 2019 by the Hampshire and Isle of Wight 
Partnership of which reviewed the Executive Director posts, in order to 
receive assurance around consistency 

• The remuneration for lay members remained in line with remuneration for lay 
members agreed for the establishment and authorisation of the CCG.  

 
The CCG requires 12 weeks notice of termination in respect of its senior 
managers. Termination payments may be applicable depending on 
circumstances. Senior managers have indefinite contracts, i.e. there are no 
fixed-term or rolling contracts. 
 
Given the election process and fixed terms of office (as set out in the CCG 
Constitution), the GP Executive/Board Members are not entitled to Redundancy 
Payments. The CCG would, however, make provision for a severance payment, 
equivalent to a three month notice period.  

 
 
14.4 Trade Union Facility Time 

 
Table 1 
Relevant union officials 
 
What was the total number of your employees who were relevant union officials 
during the relevant period? 
 
Number of employees 
who were relevant 
union officials during 
the relevant period 

Full-time 
equivalent 
employee 
number 

  
NIL NIL 

 
 

 
Table 2 
Percentage of time spent on facility time 
 
How many of your employees who were relevant union officials employed during 
the relevant period spent a) 0%, b) 1%-50%, c) 51%-99% or d) 100% of their 
working hours on facility time? 
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Percentage of time Number of 
employees 

0% NIL 
1-50% NIL 
51%-99% NIL 
100% NIL 
 
 
Table 3 
Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time 
 

Provide the figures requested in the first column of the table below to determine 
the percentage of your total pay bill spent on paying employees who were 
relevant union officials for facility time during the relevant period. 

 Figures 
Provide the total cost of facility time NIL 
Provide the total pay bill NIL 
Provide the percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time, 
calculated as: 

NIL 

(total cost of facility time ÷ total pay bill) x 100  

 
 
Table 4 
Paid trade union activities 
 

As a percentage of total paid facility time hours, how many hours were spent by 
employees who were relevant union officials during the relevant period on paid 
trade union activities? NIL 

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of total paid facility time 
hours calculated as: (total hours spent on paid trade union activities by relevant 
union officials during the relevant period ÷ total paid facility time hours) x 100 
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Salaries and Allowances 
 
The table below shows the salaries and allowances paid to senior managers during 2019/20. For any senior manager who is paid in 
excess of £150,000 on a full time annualised basis the remuneration is agreed and discussed with the CCG Non-Executives at the 
Remuneration Committee. Some individuals now have expanding and more complex portfolios covering multiple systems and 
geographies, and this has been strongly taken into consideration when agreeing the remuneration values. The Salary and 
Allowances table that follow contain further disclosures on the remuneration of the CCG’s senior managers. 
 
The figures shown under “All Pension Related Benefits” in the table are a calculation of the increase in the senior manager’s 
accrued pension benefit at the beginning and the end of the financial year. 
The required formula for this item includes a factor of 20 to allow for the predicted value of the annual pension over an average 
period of 20 years.  
 

 THIS TABLE IS SUBJECT TO AUDIT 
  

2019-20 

 
   

West Hampshire CCG 

Name & Title 
   

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) 

 

 

Full Salary and Fees 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Salary and 
Fees 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 
benefits 

Total (a 
to e) 

  
 

(bands of £5,000) 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

( to nearest 
£100) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

   £000 £000 £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Charles Besley, Clinical Executive Director, covering Board 
GP role  

 

25-30 0 25-30 0 0 0 15-17.5 40-45 
Ruth Colburn-Jackson Managing Director for the North and 
Mid Hampshire system (Shared) and Managing Director for 
NHS North East Hampshire & Farnham CCG 

i 

110-115 0 10-15 0 0 0 0-2.5 10-15 
Jenny Erwin, Director of Mental Health Transformation and 
Delivery (Shared) 

ii 
105-110 0 95-100 0 0 0 17.5-20 115-120 
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 THIS TABLE IS SUBJECT TO AUDIT 
  

2019-20 

 
   

West Hampshire CCG 

Name & Title 
   

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) 

 

 

Full Salary and Fees 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Salary and 
Fees 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 
benefits 

Total (a 
to e) 

  
 

(bands of £5,000) 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

( to nearest 
£100) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Mike Fulford, Chief Operating Officer & Chief Finance Officer  iii 130-135 0 130-135 0 0 0 40-42.5 170-175 

Simon Garlick, Lay Member, Governance   15-20 0 15-20 0 0 0 0 15-20 

Judy Gillow, Lay Member, Quality / Interim Board Nurse   5-10 0 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 
Dr Karl Graham, Clinical Executive Director, covering Board GP 
role 

 
40-45 0 40-45 0 0 0 52.5-55 90-95 

Heather Hauschild, Chief Officer iv 45-50 0 45-50 0 0 0 0 35-40 
Dr Adrian Higgins, Clinical Executive Director, covering Board 
GP role  

 
75-80 0 75-80 0 0 0 47.5-50 125-130 

Dr Rory Honney, Clinical Executive Director, covering Board GP 
role 

 
25-30 0 25-30 0 0 0 7.5-10 35-40 

Rachael King, Director of Commissioning, South and West   110-115 0 110-115 0 0 0 25-27.5 135-140 

Professor Johnny Lyon-Maris, Clinical Executive Director, 
covering Board GP role  

 
35-40 0 35-40 0 0 0 0 35-40 

Maggie MacIsaac, Chief Executive (Accountable Officer) 
(Shared) 

v 
165-170 15-20 15-20 0 0-5 0 0-2.5 15-20 

Dr Lorne McEwan, Clinical Executive Director, covering Board 
GP role  

 

50-55 0 50-55 0 0 0 80-82.5 130-135 

Ellen McNicholas, Director of Quality and Board Nurse 
 

100-105 0 100-105 0 0 0 20-22.5 125-130 
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 THIS TABLE IS SUBJECT TO AUDIT 
  

2019-20 

 
   

West Hampshire CCG 

Name & Title 
   

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) 

 

 

Full Salary and Fees 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Salary and 
Fees 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 
benefits 

Total (a 
to e) 

  
 

(bands of £5,000) 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

( to nearest 
£100) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Heather Mitchell, Director of Strategy and Service 
Development (to 2 August 2019) 

vi 
35-40 0 35-40 0 0 0 2.5-5 40-45 

Alison Rogers, Lay Member, Strategy and Finance 

 

5-10 0 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Dr Sarah Schofield, Chair  110-115 0 110-115 0 0 0 7.5-10 120-125 
Dr James Smallwood, Secondary Care Consultant   5-10 0 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Caroline Ward, Lay Member, New Technologies  5-10 0 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 
Dr Stuart Ward, Clinical Executive Director, covering Board GP 
role  

 
40-45 0 40-45 0 0 0 0 40-45 

 
 
The senior managers full Salary & Fees and Performance Pay and Bonuses are shown in the first two columns, with the amount 
relative to the CCG disclosed in the following columns. 

i) Ruth Colburn-Jackson was the Managing Director for NHS North East Hampshire & Farnham CCG. She left the CCG on 
19th January 2020. No funding was recharged for this role. Ruth was appointed Managing Director for the North and Mid 
Hampshire system which encompass both NHS North Hampshire CCG and NHS West Hampshire CCG on 20th January 
2020. Her remuneration is split equally between both CCGs for this time period. 

ii) Jenny Erwin was the Director of Commissioning, Mid Hampshire, for NHS West Hampshire CCG until 19 January 2020. 
Jenny was appointed Director of Mental Health Transformation and Delivery on 20 January 2020 which is a shared role 
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working across NHS West Hampshire CCG, NHS North Hampshire CCG, NHS Isle of Wight CCG, NHS South East 
Hampshire CCG and NHS Fareham & Gosport CCG. 

iii) Mike Fulford was the Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Executive for NHS West Hampshire CCG until 1st August 
2019 when Mike was then appointed Chief Operating Officer & Chief Finance Officer for NHS West Hampshire CCG. 

iv) Heather Hauschild was Chief Officer for NHS West Hampshire CCG until her departure on 28th July 2019. 
v) Maggie MacIsaac started the year as the Joint Accountable Officer and Chief Executive Officer for NHS Fareham & 

Gosport CCG, NHS Isle of Wight CCG, NHS North Hampshire CCG, NHS North East Hampshire & Farnham CCG and 
NHS South Eastern Hampshire CCG. During the year she also became the Accountable Officer and Chief Executive 
Officer for NHS Southampton CCG and NHS West Hampshire CCG, and later stepped down as the Accountable Officer 
and Chief Executive Officer for NHS North East Hampshire and Farnham CCG. The table below shows the CCGs which 
Maggie MacIsaac was Accountable Officer and Chief Executive Officer for during different date periods throughout the 
year. Her remuneration is split equally across the total number of CCGs shown for each date period. 

 
 
The Chief Executive received a retention payment which is split equally across the total number of CCGs shown above 
for each date period. She also received a performance related payment for the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Partnership 
of CCGs during 2018/19. This is split equally across NHS North East Hampshire and Farnham CCG, NHS North 
Hampshire CCG, NHS Fareham and Gosport CCG, NHS South Eastern Hampshire CCGG and NHS Isle of Wight CCG. 
 

vi) Heather Mitchell was Director of Strategy and Service Development for NHS West Hampshire CCG until her departure on 
2nd August 2019. 
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Dr Sallie Bacon, Director of Public Health, does not receive any salary or allowances from the CCG. 
The CCG did not make any Long Term Performance Related Bonuses to Senior Managers during the 2019/20 financial year. 
The CCG has not made any payments to any individual who was a senior manager during the past financial year for loss of office or 
as part of an exit package. In addition, the CCG has not made any payments to any individual who is a past senior manager during 
the past financial year. 
All Very Senior Managers remuneration is agreed and reviewed by the Remuneration Committee this enables the CCG to ensure 
that this remuneration is reasonable. The pensions disclosure calculations are based on officer service only and do not include any 
benefits in respect of practitioner service. 
 

 THIS TABLE IS SUBJECT TO AUDIT 
 

2018-19 

 
  

West Hampshire CCG 

Name & Title 
  

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) 

 

Full Salary 
and Fees 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Salary and 
Fees 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Performan
ce pay and 

bonuses 

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 
benefits 

Total (a 
to e) 

  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

( to nearest 
£100) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

  £000 £000 £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr Charles Besley, Clinical Executive Director, covering Board 
GP role  25-30 0 25-30 0 0 0 22.5-25 50-55 
Jenny Erwin, Director of Commissioning, Mid Hampshire 
 100-105 0 100-105 0 0 0 35-37.5 135-140 
Mike Fulford, Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Chief Executive  
 125-130 0 125-130 0 0 0 22.5-25 145-150 
Dr Roland Fowler, Clinical Executive Director, covering Board 
GP role (from April 2018 to September 2018) 25-30 0 25-30 0 0 0 22.5-25 50-55 

Simon Garlick, Lay Member, Governance  10-15 0 10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

Judy Gillow, Lay Member, Quality / Interim Board Nurse  5-10 0 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 
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 THIS TABLE IS SUBJECT TO AUDIT 
 

2018-19 

 
  

West Hampshire CCG 

Name & Title 
  

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) 

 

Full Salary 
and Fees 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Salary and 
Fees 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Performan
ce pay and 

bonuses 

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 
benefits 

Total (a 
to e) 

  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

( to nearest 
£100) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Beverley Goddard, Director of Performance and Delivery (to 21 
January 2019)  65-70 0 65-70 0 0 0 0 65-70 
Dr Karl Graham, Clinical Executive Director, covering Board GP 
role 40-45 0 40-45 0 0 0 0-2.5 40-45 
Barbara Gregory, Acting Chief Finance Officer (from 31 August 
2018 to 30 September 2019) 5-10 0 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Heather Hauschild, Chief Officer  130-135 0 130-135 0 0 0 0 130-135 
Dr Adrian Higgins, Clinical Executive Director, covering Board 
GP role (from June 2018) 65-70 0 65-70 0 0 0 

185-
187.5 250-255 

Dr Rory Honney, Clinical Executive Director, covering Board GP 
role (from July 2018) 15-20 0 15-20 0 0 0 27.5-30 45-50 

Rachael King, Director of Commissioning, South and West  120-125 0 120-125 0 0 0 70-72.5 195-200 
Professor Johnny Lyon-Maris, Clinical Executive Director, 
covering Board GP role  30-35 0 30-35 0 0 0 0 30-35 
Dr Lorne McEwan, Clinical Executive Director, covering Board 
GP role (from 1 November 2018) 25-30 0 25-30 0 0 0 27.5-30 50-55 

Ellen McNicholas, Director of Quality and Board Nurse 100-105 0 100-105 0 0 0 45-47.5 145-150 

Heather Mitchell, Director of Strategy and Service 
Development 100-105 0 100-105 0 0 0 25-27.5 130-135 
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 THIS TABLE IS SUBJECT TO AUDIT 
 

2018-19 

 
  

West Hampshire CCG 

Name & Title 
  

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) 

 

Full Salary 
and Fees 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Salary and 
Fees 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Performan
ce pay and 

bonuses 

Long term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 
benefits 

Total (a 
to e) 

  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

( to nearest 
£100) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Dr Helen Pardoe, Secondary Care Consultant (to 31 December 
2018)  5-10 0 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Alison Rogers, Lay Member, Strategy and Finance 5-10 0 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Dr Sarah Schofield, Chair 110-115 0 110-115 0 0 0 
100-
102.5 210-215 

Dr James Smallwood, Secondary Care Consultant (from January 
2019) 0-5 0 0-5 0 0 0 0 0-5 

Caroline Ward, Lay Member, New Technologies 5-10 0 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 
Dr Stuart Ward, Clinical Executive Director, covering Board GP 
role (from Januray 2019) 5-10 0 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

 
The senior managers full Salary & Fees and Performance Pay and Bonuses are shown in the first two columns, with the amount 
relative to the CCG disclosed in the following columns. 
The CCG did not made any Annual Performance Related Bonuses or any Long Term Performance Related Bonuses to Senior 
Managers during the 2018/19 financial year. 
The CCG did not made any payments to any individual who was a senior manager during the 2018/19 financial year for loss of 
office or as part of an exit package. In addition, the CCG has did made any payments to any individual who is a past senior 
manager during the 2018/19 financial year. 
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All Pension Related Benefits 
The figures shown under “All Pension Related Benefits” in the table above are a calculation of an individual’s accrued pension 
benefit at the beginning and the end of the financial year. This is based on the following mandated national formula: 
[(20 x PE) + LSE] - [(20 x PB) + LSB]  
where:  
PE and LSE are the accrued pension and lump sum values at the end of the pension input period, and  
PB and LSB are the accrued pension and lump sum values as at the beginning of the input period. 
The impact of this formula is to show the individual’s increase in pension over the average period of twenty years. 
Pension Benefits 
The table below illustrates the pension benefits for those members of the Governing Body who are a member of the pension 
scheme. 

THIS TABLE IS SUBJECT TO AUDIT (a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) (h) 

 
 
 
 

Name & Title 

Real 
increase in 
pension at 

pension 
age 

Real 
increase in 

pension 
lump sum 
at pension 

age 

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
pension age 
at 31 March 

2020 

Lump sum at 
pension age 

related to 
accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2020 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 1 
April 2019 

Real 
increase in 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value  

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at 31 March 

2020 

Employer’s 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

  
(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
      

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr Charles Besley 0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 0-5 64 9 79 0 
Ruth Colburn-Jackson 0-2.5 (2.5)-0 25-30 50-55 334 4 361 0 
Jenny Erwin 0-2.5 0-2.5 20-25 45-50 327 11 361 0 
Mike Fulford 2.5-5 0-2.5 35-40 80-85 645 36 715 0 
Dr Karl Graham 2.5-5 5-7.5 10-15 25-30 140 39 189 0 
Heather Hauschild 0-2.5 0-2.5 50-55 160-165 1199 3 1258 0 
Dr Adrian Higgins 2.5-5 2.5-5 25-30 70-75 479 50 551 0 
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THIS TABLE IS SUBJECT TO AUDIT (a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) (h) 

 
 
 
 

Name & Title 

Real 
increase in 
pension at 

pension 
age 

Real 
increase in 

pension 
lump sum 
at pension 

age 

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
pension age 
at 31 March 

2020 

Lump sum at 
pension age 

related to 
accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2020 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 1 
April 2019 

Real 
increase in 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value  

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at 31 March 

2020 

Employer’s 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

  
(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
      

Dr Rory Honney 0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 0-5 65 3 73 0 
Rachael King 0-2.5 0-2.5 40-45 95-100 714 22 770 0 
Maggie MacIsaac 0-2.5 (5)-(2.5) 70-75 175-180 1397 25 1484 0 
Dr Tom McEwan 2.5-5 7.5-10 5-10 25-30 92 55 157 0 
Ellen McNicholas 0-2.5 0-2.5 25-30 20-25 414 20 458 0 
Heather Mitchell 0-2.5 0-2.5 15-20 0-5 204 2 228 0 
Dr Sarah Schofield 0-2.5 2.5-5 20-25 70-75 534 25 588 0 

 
Certain members do not receive pensionable remuneration therefore there will be no entries in respect of pensions for them. For 
staff shared across the Partnership 100% of their Pension benefits are reflected regardless of their proportion attributable to the 
CCG. Where an employee holds a Senior Manager position within another Organisation 100% of their Pension will also be 
disclosed in their report. 
 
Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 
 

i. A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued 
by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent 
spouse’s (or other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. CETVs are calculated in accordance with the 
Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations 2008.  
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Real Increase in CETV 
 

ii.  This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension 
due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or 
arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. The Government Actuary 
Department have amended the CETV factors from October 2018 which has resulted in a significant increase in all CETV 
figures. 

 
The pension benefit details do not allow for any potential adjustment from the impact of the McCloud judgment. During the year 
there was a requirement from the government to adjust the indexation on part of the public service pension schemes, known as the 
Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (GMP). From August 2019 this affected the method used by NHS Pensions to calculate the CETV 
values, and therefore the method in force at 31 March 2020 is different to the method used to calculate the value at 31 March 2019. 
The real increase in CETV may therefore have been impacted and could subsequently include any increase in CETV due to the 
change in GMP methodology.



Accountability Report 
 

121 

14.5 Pay Multiples 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the 
remuneration of the highest-paid director/member in their organisation and the 
median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce. This is subject to audit. 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in the clinical 
commissioning group in the financial year 2018-19 was £170,000-£175,000 
(2018-19, £130,000-£135,000). This was 4.6 times (2018-19, 3.6 times) the 
median remuneration of the workforce, which was £37,570 (2017-18, £36,644). 
There is a significant increase in year in the highest paid member in the clinical 
commissioning group due to new arrangements sharing a Chief Executive 
across both West Hampshie CCG and Hampshire and Isle of Wight Partnership 
of Clinical Commissioning Groups. 
In 2019-20, nil (2018-19, nil) employees received remuneration in excess of the 
highest paid member of the Membership Body/Governing Body. Remuneration 
ranged from £17,000 to £172,000 (2018-19 £17,000 - £133,000).  
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, 
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer 
pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 

14.6  Fees and Charges 
The CCG received no income for fees and charges in the financial year. 

14.7 Staff Report 
A detailed analysis of staff costs and average number of people employed can 
be found within Note 3 to the Accounts. Expenditure on consultancy services can 
be found within Note 4 to the Accounts. 

14.7.1 Staff Numbers  
THIS TABLE IS SUBJECT TO AUDIT 
Occupation Average number of 

employees during 
the year (Whole 
Time Equivalent) 

Number of employees 
in post as at 31 March 
2020 
(Whole Time 
Equivalent) 

Ambulance staff  0 

Administration and estates 
staff 199.49 190.55 

Health care assistants and 
other support staff 1.61 1.54 

Medical and dental staff 8.46 6.21 

Nursing, midwifery and 
health visiting staff 56.85 50.58 

Nursing, midwifery and 
health visiting learners 0 0 
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THIS TABLE IS SUBJECT TO AUDIT 
Occupation Average number of 

employees during 
the year (Whole 
Time Equivalent) 

Number of employees 
in post as at 31 March 
2020 
(Whole Time 
Equivalent) 

Scientific, therapeutic and 
technical staff 21.62 18.97 

Healthcare science 0 0 

Total staff numbers 288.04 267.86 

 
 The CCG hosts a number of headquarters functions on behalf of the five CCGs 

in Hampshire.  The average number of whole time equivalent staff employed in 
relation to West Hampshire CCG’s own population is 201.18. Of this number, 
196.61 staff were permanently employed by the CCG and 4.57 were not 
permanently employed (eg. through an agency). 

 
14.7.2 Staff Composition  

Gender Employee Analysis Total 
Female Board members 9 
  GPs (excluding Board members) 9 
  Managers (Band 8c and above) 16 
  Employees (up to and including Band 

8b) 264 
Male Board members 10 
  GPs (excluding Board members) 5 
  Managers (Band 8c and above) 8 
  Employees (up to and including Band 

8b) 49 
Total   368 

 
 The staff composition numbers is the total for the CCG and has not been netted 

down for any hosted services. 
 
14.7.3 Staff Costs 
   
Employee Benefits  
This table is subject to audit  

Total Permanent Other 
 Employee

s 
 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Salaries and wages 9,446 9,082 364 
Social security costs 968 968 0 
Employer contributions to NHS Pension 
scheme 

1,902 1,902 0 
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Other Pension Costs 1 1 0 
Apprenticeship Levy 40 40 0 
Gross employee benefits expenditure 12,357 11,993 364 
Less recoveries in respect of employee 
benefits 

0 0 0 

Total – Net admin employee benefits 
including 

12,357 11,993 364 

capitalised costs    
Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0 
Net employee benefits excluding 
capitalised 

12,357 11,993 364 

Costs    
 
14.7.4 Sickness absence data 

In line with the additional guidance to the Department of Health and Social Care 
Group Accounting Manual 2019 – 20 published on 9th April 2020 the CCG 
chosen not to report sickness absence data for the financial year. Further 
information on sickness data can be found at https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-
information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates 

 
14.7.5 Supporting Staff with Disabilities 

The Recruitment and Exit Policy defines the CCGs approach to recruitment, 
including encouraging and handling applications from prospective employees 
with a disability. The CCG is a Two Ticks employer which means where an 
applicant meets the minimum requirements for a role they are automatically 
invited for interview. We ask prospective employees if they have an impairment 
so that we can make adjustments to ensure the interview venue and process are 
accessible to all. 
If an existing member of staff becomes impaired, we have a number of policies 
to guide how managers should respond. All policies are subject to equality 
impact assessment to ensure that the needs of staff with different protected 
characteristics (including those with disabilities) are not disadvantaged and equal 
opportunities are promoted. The policies include: 

• Conduct, Performance, Grievance and Absence Management Policy 
• Learning and development policy 
• Leave and Flexible Working Policy 
• Stress management policy. 

The manager will support the individual and seek expert support from Human 
Resources, Occupational Health or the Equality and Diversity Lead if necessary. 
In line with policy, managers work in partnership with individual staff members to 
put reasonable adjustments in place so that the employee can remain in 
employment and access training. 

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates
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In line with the CCG Equality, diversity and human rights policy anonymous staff 
equalities monitoring is used to identify trends and potential unfairness in 
recruitment, access to training and career progression. This looks at all protected 
characteristics and includes disability. If unfairness is found the CCG uses 
positive action to address this. 
Further detail regarding our policies can be accessed from the NHS West 
Hampshire CCG website. 
 

14.7.6 Expenditure on Consultancy 
 The CCG spent £34,861 on external consultancy in 2019/20. 
 
14.7.7 Off-payroll Engagements 

Off-payroll engagements, as of 31 March 2020, for more than £245 per day that 
last longer than six months, are as follows: 
 Number 
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2019 0 
Of which, the number that have existed:  

• For less than one year at the time of reporting 0 

• For between one and two years at the time of reporting 1 

• For between two and three years at the time of reporting 0 

• For between three and four years at the time of reporting 0 

• For four of more years at the time of reporting 0 
 
All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point been 
subject to a risk based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the 
individual is paying the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance 
has been sought. 
 Number 
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months 
in duration, between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 

1 

Of which…  
Number assessed as within IR35 1 
Number assessed as outside of IR35 0 

  
Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and 
are on the department payroll 

0 

Number of engagements reassessed for consistency/assurance 
purposes during the year 

1 

Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status 
following the consistency review 

0 
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 Number 
Number of off-payroll engagements of Membership Body and/or 
Governing Body members, and/or, senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility, during the financial year 

0 

Total number of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have 
been deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This 
figure should include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements 

21 

 
14.7.8 Exit Packages 
 As a CCG, we are required to make disclosures regarding exit packages which 

have taken place during the financial year.  The table below provides 
anonymised data for those packages. 

THIS TABLE IS SUBJECT TO AUDIT   

Exit package cost  band (including 
any special payment element) 

Number of 
agreed 

departures     
Cost of agreed 
departures  £ 

Less than £10,000 1 £8,965 
£10,000 - £25,000 0 0 
£25,001 - £50,000 0 0 
£50,001 - £100,000 0 0 
£100,001 - £150,000 0 0 
£150,001 - £200,000 0 0 
>£200,000 0 0 
Total 1 £8,965 

 
Compulsory redundancies 

THIS TABLE IS SUBJECT TO AUDIT Number of 
agreements 

Total value 
of 

agreements 
£ 

Compulsory redundancies 0 0 
Total 0 0 
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Non-compulsory departure payments 
THIS TABLE IS SUBJECT TO AUDIT Number of 

agreements 
Total value 

of 
agreements 

£ 
Voluntary redundancies including early retirement 
contractual costs 

0 0 

Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual 
costs 

0 0 

Early retirements in the efficiency of the service 
contractual costs 

0 0 

Contractual payments in lieu of notice 1 £8,965 
Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or 
court orders 

0 0 

Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval 0 0 
Total 1 £8,965 

 
14.8  Losses and Special Payments 

The total number of NHS clinical commissioning group losses, and their 
total value, was as follows:  

 Total number 
of cases 
2019/20 

Number 

Total Value of 
cases 

2019/20 

£,000 

Total number 
of cases 
2018/19 

Number 

Total Value of 
cases 

2018/19 

£,000 

Administrative write-offs 0 0 0 0 
Fruitless payments 23 0 17 0 
Store losses 0 0 0 0 
Book keeping losses 0 0 0 0 
Constructive loss 0 0 0 0 
Cash losses 0 0 0 0 
Claims abandoned 1 18 0 0 
Total 17 18 17 0 
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The total number of NHS clinical commissioning group special payments, 
and their total value, was as follows: 
  

 Total number 
of cases 
2019/20 

Number 

Total Value of 
cases 

2019/20 

£,000 

Total number 
of cases 
2018/19 

Number 

Total Value of 
cases 

2018/19 

£,000 
Compensation 
Payments 

0 0 1 0 

Compensation 
Payments Treasury 
Approved 

0 0 0 0 

Extra Contractual 
Payments 

0 0 0 0 

Extra Contractual 
Payments Treasury 
Approved 

0 0 0 0 

Ex Gratia Payments 0 0 0 0 
Ex Gratia Payments 
Treasury Approved 

0 0 0 0 

Extra Statutory Extra 
Regulatory Payments 

0 0 0 0 

Extra Statutory Extra 
Regulatory Payments 
Treasury Approved 

0 0 0 0 

Special Severance 
Payments Treasury 
Approved 

0 0 0 0 

Total 0 0 1 0 
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15 Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 

West Hampshire CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary 
Accountability and Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, 
special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes in the 
Financial Statements of this report. An audit certificate and report is also 
included in this Annual Report. 

Signed 

Maggie MacIsaac 

Accountable Officer 

23 June 2020 
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Maggie MacIsaac



Annual Report & Accounts 2019/20 

129 

16 Glossary/Acronyms 
BMI – Body Mass Index 
CCG – Clinical Commissioning Group 
CHC – Continuing Healthcare 
CHIE – Care and Health Information Exchange 
CQC – Care Quality Commission 
DSPT – Data and Security Protection Toolkit 
ETTF – Estates and Technology Transformation Fund 
GP – General Practice 
GP Federation - a group of general practices operating as one entity and working 
together within a local health economy. 
Hampshire CCG Partnership - group comprising Fareham and Gosport, Isle of 
Wight, North Hampshire, North East Hampshire and Farnham, and South 
Eastern Hampshire CCGs.  
HCC – Hampshire County Council 
HEE – Health Education England 
HHFT – Hampshire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
HSCN – Health and Social Care Network 
ICON – Infant crying is normal, comforting methods can help, it’s OK to walk away, 
never, ever shake a baby 
ICS – Integrated Care System 
JSNA – Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
MSK – Musculoskeletal 
NEWS – National Early Warning Score 
NDA – National Diabetes Audit 
NHSPS – NHS Property Service 
NHS Elect – NHS training provider 
PCN – Primary Care Network 
PHL – Partnering Health Limited 
PPESG – Patient and Public Steering Group 
PPG – Patient Participation Group 
QI – Quality Improvement 
SCAS – South Central Ambulance Service 
SCCCG – Southampton Clinical Commissioning Group 
Social prescribing - when health professionals refer patients to support in the 
community, in order to improve their health and wellbeing. 
STP – Sustainability and Transformation Partnership 
TECC – Transforming Emergency Care Collaboration 
UHSFT – University Hospitals Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 
UTC – Urgent Treatment Centre 
UTRS – Use the Right Service 
WISDOM - West Hampshire Improving Shared Diabetes Outcome Measures 
WISER – West Hampshire Interactive Structure Education Refresher 
WHCCG – West Hampshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2020

2019-20 2018-19
Note £'000 £'000

Other operating income 2 12 (133)
Total operating income 12 (133)

Staff costs 3 12,357 10,832
Purchase of goods and services 4 816,106 769,999
Provision expense 4 (47) (1,233)
Other Operating Expenditure 4 281 417
Total operating expenditure 828,697 780,015

Net Operating Expenditure 828,709 779,882

Finance expense - 3
Net expenditure for the year 828,709 779,885

Net (Gain)/Loss on Transfer by Absorption - -
Total Net Expenditure for the Financial Year 828,709 779,885
Other Comprehensive Expenditure
Sub total - -

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year 828,709 779,885
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2020

2019-20 2018-19

Note £'000 £'000
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 8 97 -
Total non-current assets 97 -

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables 9 4,627 6,446
Cash and cash equivalents 10 178 85
Total current assets 4,805 6,531

Total assets 4,902 6,531

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 11 (51,742) (53,859)
Provisions 12 (483) (539)
Total current liabilities (52,225) (54,398)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities (47,323) (47,867)

Assets less Liabilities (47,323) (47,867)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund (47,323) (47,867)
Total taxpayers' equity: (47,323) (47,867)

The notes on pages 5 to 20 form part of this statement

Maggie MacIsaac
Chief Executive

The financial statements on pages 1 to 20 were approved by West Hampshire clinical commissioning group's Audit 
Committee, as delegated by the Governing Body on 22 June 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Maggie MacIsaac



3

- Annual Accounts 2019-20

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2020

General fund
Total 

reserves
£'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20

Balance at 01 April 2019 (47,867) (47,867)
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies 0 0
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2019 (47,867) (47,867)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (828,709) (828,709)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year (828,709) (828,709)
Net funding 829,253 829,253
Balance at 31 March 2020 (47,323) (47,323)

General fund
Total 

reserves
£'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19

Balance at 01 April 2018 (49,749) (49,749)
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies 0 0
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2019 (49,749) (49,749)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Net operating costs for the financial year (779,885) (779,885)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year (779,885) (779,885)
Net funding 781,767 781,767
Balance at 31 March 2019 (47,867) (47,867)

The notes on pages 5 to 20 form part of this statement
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2020

2019-20 2018-19
Note £'000 £'000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (828,709) (779,885)
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 9 1,819 (420)
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 11 (2,117) (5)
Provisions utilised 12 (9) (352)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 12 (47) (1,233)
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (829,063) (781,895)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment (97) 0
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities (97) 0

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing (829,160) (781,895)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received 829,253 781,767
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 829,253 781,767

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 10 93 (128)

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 85 213
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year 178 85

The notes on pages 5 to 20 form part of this statement
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the  Group 
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the  Group Accounting Manual 2019-20 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the 
Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical 
commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group Accounting 
Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical 
commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning 
group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis despite the issue of a report to the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care under 
Section 30 of the Local  Audit and Accountability Act 2014. This is in line with the Department for Health Group Accounting Manual for 2019/20 which 
state that we are a going concern unless we have been informed that there is an intention for the CCG to be dissolved without the transfer of function to 
another entity. The Covid-19 national emergency situation that arose at the end of the financial period and remains ongoing brings a new set of 
circumstances for the CCG. As a result of this NHS planning processes have ceased, however the government has made a pledge to the country and 
the NHS:

The Chancellor of the Exchequer committed in Parliament last week that “Whatever extra resources our NHS needs to cope with coronavirus – it will 
get.” So financial constraints must not and will not stand in the way of taking immediate and necessary action - whether in terms of staffing, facilities 
adaptation, equipment, patient discharge packages, staff training, elective care, or any other relevant category.

We believe that this situation does not therefore lead to material uncertainty about the going concern of the CCG. 

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by 
inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by 
another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements.  If services will continue 
to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2  Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Joint Arrangements
Pooled Budgets

Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 the 
clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, 
identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement. The clinical commissioning group is in a “jointly controlled operation” for the Hampshire 
Equipment Store, and as such the clinical commissioning group recognises:

· The assets the clinical commissioning group controls;
· The liabilities the clinical commissioning group incurs;
· The expenses the clinical commissioning group incurs; and,
· The clinical commissioning group’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.

Other expenditure within the pooled budget has been assessed as having control either by Hampshire County Council or individual
Clinical Commissioning Groups party to the agreement.

1.4 Operating Segments
Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note and are reported in line with management information used within the clinical 
commissioning group.

1.5 Employee Benefits
1.5.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the 
service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are 
permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.5.2 Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes 
that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The 
schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 
Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of 
participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for 
the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of 
payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.6 Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value 
of the consideration payable.

1.7 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases.

1.7.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance 
charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 
recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a 
liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or 
finance leases.

1.8 Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are 
investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk 
of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral 
part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.9 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The 
amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into 
account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
• Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of negative 0.50% (2018-19: positive 0.29%) in real terms. All 
general provisions are subject to four separate discount rates according to the expected timing of cashflows from the Statement of Financial Position 
date:
• A nominal short-term rate of 0.51% (2018-19: 0.76%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows up to and including 5 years from Statement of
Financial Position date.
• A nominal medium-term rate of 0.55% (2018-19:1.14%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years from the 
Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 years from 
the Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of 
Financial Position date.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised 
as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

1.10 Clinical Negligence Costs

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in 
return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all 
clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with clinical commissioning group.

1.11 Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling 
schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the 
costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating 
expenses as and when they become due.

1.12 Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not 
recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one 
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of 
economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are disclosed at their present value.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.13 Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade 
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset 
has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
· Financial assets at amortised cost;
·  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and;
· Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.

The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at 
the time of initial recognition. A thorough review of IFRS 9 has been performed and there is no material impact to NHS West Hampshire CCG.

1.13.1 Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair 
value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the clinical commissioning group recognises a loss allowance 
representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset.
The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade 
receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.  For other financial assets, the loss allowance 
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other government departments, their 
executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation.  The 
clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.  Additionally 
Department of Health and Social Care provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical 
commissioning group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. 
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as 
the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's 
original effective interest rate.  Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.
Upon a thorough review of IFRS 9 it became clear that the standard has no material impact on the 2019-20 accounts for NHS West Hampshire CCG.

1.14 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-
recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.15 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on 
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed 
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.16 Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. 
By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of 
payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have 
been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being 
included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.17 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates 
and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revisions affects both current and future periods.

1.17.1 Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the clinical 
commissioning group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The clinical 
commissioning group has made critical judgements in respect of pooled budget arrangements.
The clinical commissioning group has reviewed all Pooled Budget arrangements in light of the relevant accounting standards, particularly IFRS 10 
(Consolidated Financial Statements) and IFRS 11 (Joint Arrangements), and has determined that joint control exists in the Joint Equipment Store. Other 
expenditure has been assessed as having control either by Hampshire County Council or individual Clinical Commissioning Groups party to the 
agreement.
Except for these items there are no critical judgements that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

1.17.2 Sources of estimation uncertainty
There are no sources of estimation uncertainty in the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounts for 2019-20. 

1.18 Gifts
Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return. Gifts include all transactions economically 
equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of an asset for its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at below market 
value.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.19 Hosted Services
The clinical commissioning group hosts services on behalf of the five clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) in Hampshire: West
Hampshire CCG (as host), Fareham and Gosport CCG, South Eastern Hampshire CCG, North East Hampshire and Farnham CCG and
North Hampshire CCG.
Under these arrangements the following services are hosted: Continuing Healthcare and Non Continuing Healthcare High Cost
Placements; Funded Nursing; Medicines Management (including Prescribing); and Safeguarding Children.
In addition West Hampshire CCG hosts a small number Non Continuing Healthcare High Cost Placements on behalf of the Isle of Wight
CCG.
The costs and associated income incurred on behalf of the 5 CCGs in Hampshire, and the Isle of Wight CCG, are shown net so that only
the costs attributable to West Hampshire CCG are shown in these accounts.

1.20 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2019-20. These 
Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2021-22, and the government implementation date 
for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.

● IFRS 16 Leases – The Standard is effective 1 April 2021 as adapted and interpreted by the FReM. The CCG has commenced the assessment of the
application of IFRS 16 to its financial statements.  This commenced with work to identify leases which are currently operating leases and should be 
reclassified as finance leases as well as a broader review of recurring expenditure streams where right to use assets may be embedded in contracting 
arrangements.  The work has progressed to March 2020, when the CCG revised its operational priorities and working patterns to deal with the 
COVID19 pandemic and combined with the decision to defer the implementation of IFRS16 in the NHS to 1 April 2021 means that it has not been 
practical to complete this work or present it for audit.  The work to identify the impact of this standard is expected to recommence in Autumn 2020, but 
from the review and work that has been done to date suggests that the standard will not have a material impact on the CCG's accounts.
● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the FReM: 
early adoption is not therefore permitted.
● IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2019-20, were they applied in that year. 
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2. Other Operating Revenue
2019-20 2018-19

Total Total
£'000 £'000

Other operating income
Other non contract revenue (12) 133
Total Other operating income (12) 133

Total Operating Income (12) 133

3. Employee benefits and staff numbers

3.1 Employee benefits 2019-20

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 9,082 364 9,446
Social security costs 968 - 968
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 1,902 - 1,902
Other pension costs 1 - 1
Apprenticeship Levy 40 - 40
Gross employee benefits expenditure 11,993 364 12,357

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits - - -
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 11,993 364 12,357

Less: Employee costs capitalised - - -
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 11,993 364 12,357

3.1 Employee benefits 2018-19

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 8,319 455 8,774
Social security costs 912 - 912
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 1,115 - 1,115
Other pension costs 1 - 1
Apprenticeship Levy 30 - 30
Gross employee benefits expenditure 10,377 455 10,832

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits - - -
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 10,377 455 10,832

Less: Employee costs capitalised - - -
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 10,377 455 10,832

Total

Total
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16 Related party transactions cont.

Payments 
to Related 

Party
Receipts from 
Related Party

Amounts 
owed to 

Related Party

Amounts due 
from Related 

Party
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Fryern Surgery (Dr Stuart Ward) 2,002 - 101 -
Gratton Surgery (Dr Lorne McEwan) 1,870 - 73 -

Hedge End Medical Centre (Dr Karl Graham) 1,928 - 63 -
Lyndhurst Surgery (Dr Johnny Lyon-Maris) 972 - 37 -
Park Surgery and St Francis Surgery (Dr Sarah Schofield) 1,998 - 60 -
Red and Green Practice (Dr Charles Besley) 3,382 - 155 -
St Mary's Surgery (Dr Rory Honney) 1,508 - 47 -
University Hospitals Southampton NHS Foundation Trust (Ellen McNicholas - 
Governor) 154,981 (105) 5,901 (751)

Payments to 
Related 

Party
Receipts from 
Related Party

Amounts owed 
to Related 

Party

Amounts due 
from Related 

Party
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Gratton Surgery (Dr Lorne McEwan) 1,815 - 648 -
Hedge End Medical Centre (Dr Karl Graham) 1,796 - - -
Lyndhurst Surgery (Dr Johnny Lyon-Maris) 834 - - -
North Baddesley Surgery (Dr Roland Fowler) 1,255 - - -
Park Surgery and St Francis Surgery (Dr Sarah Schofield) 1,961 - - -
Red and Green Practice (Dr Charles Besley) 3,188 - 4 -
St Mary's Surgery (Dr Rory Honney) 1,470 - - -
Tri-Locality Care (Dr Roland Fowler is Medical Director) 750 - 9 -
University Hospitals Southampton NHS Foundation Trust (Ellen McNicholas - 
Governor) 142,315 - 46 (648)

17 Financial performance targets

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 2019-20
Target Performance Variance Target Met?

Expenditure not to exceed income 815,115 828,697 (13,582) No
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 97 97 - Yes
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 815,127 828,709 (13,582) No
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 12,621 10,962 1,659 Yes

2018-19 2018-19 2018-19 2018-19
Target Performance Variance Target Met?

Expenditure not to exceed income 780,063 780,017 46 Yes
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 779,930 779,885 46 Yes
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 12,015 11,348 667 Yes

During the year the clinical commissioning group had an in-year revenue resource limit of £815,127,000 plus £46,000 carried forward surplus 
from previous years. Against this allocation the clinical commissioning group had a net actual spend of £828,709,000 giving a net in-year deficit 
of £13,582,000. The clinical commissioning group has a cumulative deficit at the 31 March 2020 of £13,536,000. As a result of this overspend 
the clinical commissioning group's External Auditors issued a notification under section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 for 
breach of financial duty to breakeven relating to the in-year deficit.
The clinical commissioning group's admin allocation includes an additional £695,000 received in 2019/20 as a non-recurrent allocation to offset 
the costs of the additional 6.3% pension employer pension contributions made by the clinical commissioning group in year and £7,000 non-
recurrent allocation in respect of the Health and Social Care Network (HSCN).

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:
2019-20

2018-19




